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1 Developments from the ASB

1.1 Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs)

There have been no new FRSs issued in the last six months. In fact the most recent new standard was FRS 29 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures) which was issued in response to IFRS 7 in December 2005.

This apparent inactivity of the Board can be explained by an article in Inside Track, Issue No 54 (January 2008). In this article, Ian Mackintosh, the chairman of the ASB, expressed the view that there was no longer a case for retaining two sets of GAAP. He said that the debate had now moved on to whether there should be a three-tier or two tier system of reporting. 

A three-tier system would see listed companies, and perhaps other large or important entities, applying full IFRS; unlisted companies other than the smallest would apply the IFRS for SMEs; and the smallest layer would continue to apply the FRSSE, amended to align with IFRS. A two-tier system would apply the IFRS for SMEs to both those last two categories.

Clearly, if the ASB see no point in continuing with UK standards, then there is no point in issuing new UK standards during the convergence period which was seen at that point in time as being completed by 2011. 

A recent article in Inside Track 58 (January 2009) has updated the position. This says that the ASB have now approved a plan for the remaining stages of its consideration of the future of UK GAAP. Subject to the development of the IFRS for SMEs (now tentatively renamed the IFRS for Private Entities), the ASB plans to issue a discussion paper in the second quarter of this year. This will propose a three tier reporting structure. The ASB are still considering which entities would fall within each tier but have decided that all entities with public accountability should apply full IFRS. The ASB are now envisaging full implementation following a transitional period from 2010 to 2012.

For a copy of Inside Track go to: www.frc.org.uk/asb/publications/insidetrack.cfm

1.2 Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards 

The ASB has issued a Financial Reporting Standard of Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards so as to maintain the existing levels of convergence between UK and International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The amendments arise as a consequence of the International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) annual improvements process. 

The standard gives the following list of amendments:

	FRS
	Amendment

	FRS 7 Fair Values in Acquisition Accounting
	Contingent consideration 

	FRS 17 Retirement Benefits
	Fair value of unitised securities 

	
	

	FRS 21 (IAS 10) Events after the Balance Sheet Date
	Dividends declared after the end of the reporting period

	FRS 24 (IAS 29) Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
	Description of the measurement basis in financial statements 

	
	Consistency of terminology with other FRS

	FRS 25 (IAS 32) Financial Instruments: Presentation
	Amendment to the scope of the Standard 

	FRS 26 (IAS 39) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
	Amendment to the scope of the Standard 

	
	Reclassifications of derivatives into or out of the classification of 'at fair value' through profit and loss

	
	Designating and documenting hedges at the segment level

	
	Application of the effective interest rate on cessation of fair value hedge accounting

	FRS 29 (IFRS 7) Financial Instruments: Disclosures
	Amendment to the scope of the Standard 

	
	Presentation of finance costs


As usual, most of these amendments will only affect larger companies; however, some readers of the notes may be interested in the reference to dividends declared after the end of the reporting period. This does not represent a change in the existing standard but is merely a clarification re-iterating that if dividends are declared (i.e. the dividends are appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity) after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are authorised for issue, the dividends are not recognised as a liability at the balance sheet date because no obligation exists at that time. Such dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

1.3 Amendments to Financial Reporting Standards for Companies Act 2006 

The ASB has issued for public comment proposals to amend Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 2 ‘Accounting for Subsidiary Undertakings’, FRS 6 ‘Acquisitions and Mergers’ and FRS 28 ‘Corresponding Amounts’. The amendments arise from the introduction of the ‘Companies Act 2006’ and from ‘The large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008’. 

The object of the Financial Reporting Exposure Draft (FRED) is not to amend the requirements of these FRS but to update them such that they correspond with the current legal requirements. 

2 COMPANIES ACT 2006

2.1 Fifth Commencement Order

The fifth commencement order was laid before Parliament on 17 December 2007 and comes into force on a variety of dates during 2008. Most of the Sections enacted came into force at 6 April 2008 and were dealt with in previous quarterly notes.

We are now approaching the date when the rest of the fifth commencement order comes into force. These notes deal briefly with the Sections which will take effect from1 October 2008. 

One other thing to remember from the Fifth Commencement Order is that The CA 1985 rules concerning financial assistance for acquisition of shares are repealed for private companies from 1 October 2008.

2.1.1 Directors: General issues

Section 155 contains the new requirement for at least one of the directors to be a natural person. The transitional provisions of the fifth commencement order say that this requirement does not apply until 1 October 2010 if a company had no natural persons as directors on 8 November 2006.

Section 157 is also new and sets the minimum age for appointment as a director to be 16. A director can be appointed before that age as long as the appointment does not take effect until the person appointed attains that age. An appointment in contravention of this section is void. Section 158 permits the Secretary of State to make exceptions to the minimum age requirement.

Under Section 159, existing under-age directors will cease to hold office on 1 October 2008 unless they are excepted under Section 158.

2.1.2 Directors’ duties

Duty to avoid conflicts of interest (Section 175)

Directors must avoid a situation in which they have or could have a direct or indirect interest that conflicts with the interests of the company.  This applies, in particular, to the exploitation of any property, information or opportunity whether or not the company could take advantage of the property, information or opportunity.

The duty is not infringed if the matter has been authorised by the board.  In the case of a private company this is so long as there is nothing in the company’s constitution invalidating the authorisation.  In the case of a public company, the constitution must specifically permit authorisation.

Whenever authorisation is sought of the board, the interested director must not count in the quorum.

Note that Subsection 2 of Section 170 says that a person who ceases to be a director will continue to be subject to the duty in section 175 (duty to avoid conflicts of interest) as regards the exploitation of any property, information or opportunity of which he became aware at a time when he was a director, and to the duty in section 176 (duty not to accept benefits from third parties) as regards things done or omitted by him before he ceased to be a director. 

Duty not to accept benefits from third parties (Section 176)

A director must not accept a benefit from a third party conferred by reason of his being a director or his doing or not doing anything as a director. This duty is not infringed if the acceptance of the benefit cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest.  

Duty to declare interest in proposed transaction (Section 177)

If a director is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a proposed transaction or arrangement with the company, he must declare the nature and extent of that interest to the other directors.  Such declaration must be made before the company enters into the transaction or arrangement. The director need not declare an interest if it cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest.  

2.1.3 Objections to company’s registered names (Sections 69 to 74)

A person (the applicant) may object to a company’s registered name on the ground that it is the same as a name associated with the applicant in which he has goodwill or that it is sufficiently similar to such a name that its use in the United Kingdom would be likely to mislead by suggesting a connection between the company and the applicant.

The primary respondent to the application is the company concerned but it may be joined as respondents by any member or director. 

If the ground specified above is established, it is for the respondents to show that:

a)
that the name was registered before the commencement of the activities on which the applicant relies to show goodwill; or

b)
that the company:

I.
is operating under the name; or

II.
is proposing to do so and has occurred substantial start-up costs in preparation; or

III.
was formally operating under the name and is now dormant; or

c)
that the name was registered in the ordinary course of a company formation business and the company is for sale to the applicant on the standard terms of that business; or

d)
that the name was adopted in good faith; or 

e)
that the interests of the applicant are not adversely affected to any significant extent.

If none of those is shown then the objection shall be upheld.

If the facts mentioned in subsections a), b) or c) are established, the objection shall nevertheless be upheld if the applicant shows that the main purpose of the respondents (or any of them) in registering the name was to obtain money (or other consideration) from the applicant or prevent him from registering the name.

The Secretary of State shall appoint persons to be company names adjudicators.  They must have such legal or other experience as, in the Secretary of State’s opinion, makes them suitable for appointment.  One of the adjudicators shall be appointed Chief Adjudicator.

The Secretary of State may make rules about proceedings before a company names adjudicator.

If an application under Section 69 is upheld, the adjudicator shall make an order requiring the respondent company to change its name to one that is not an offending name. All respondents must co-operate with the order. 

Either the applicant or the respondent may appeal to the court against any decision of a company names adjudicator.

2.1.4 Trading disclosures (Sections 82 to 85)

Section 82 states that the Secretary of State may make regulations requiring companies to display specified information in both specified locations and specified documents and to provide specified information to those they deal with in the course of their business. 

These regulations have now been published in the form of SI 2008 No 495 The Companies (Trading Disclosures) Regulations 2008 which come into force on 1st October 2008.

In these Regulations, a reference to any type of document is a reference to a document of that type in hard copy, electronic or any other form; and

A company (other than a dormant company) shall display its registered name at -

(a) its registered office; and

(b) any other location at which it keeps records available for inspection. 

A company shall also display its registered name at any location at which it carries on business other than a location which is primarily used for living accommodation. 

Regulation 5 deals with the manner of display of registered name.  The registered name shall be displayed continuously but where any such office, place or location is shared by six or more companies, each such company is only required to display its registered name for at least fifteen continuous seconds at least once in every three minutes. 

Every company shall disclose its registered name on -

(c) its business letters, notices and other official publications;

(d) its bills of exchange, promissory notes, endorsements and order forms;

(e) cheques purporting to be signed by or on behalf of the company; 

(f) orders for money, goods or services purporting to be signed by or on behalf of the company; 

(g) its bills of parcels, invoices and other demands for payment, receipts and letters of credit;

(h) its applications for licences to carry on a trade or activity; and

(i)  all other forms of its business correspondence and documentation. 

Every company shall disclose its registered name on its websites. 

Every company shall disclose the following further particulars on -

(j)  its business letters;

(k)  its order forms; and

(l)  its websites. 

The further particulars are - 

(m) the part of the United Kingdom in which the company is registered;

(n) the company's registered number; 

(o)  the address of the company's registered office; 

(p)  in the case of a limited company exempt from the obligation to use the word "limited" as part of its registered name under section 30 of the Companies Act 1985 or article 40 of the Companies (Northern) Ireland Order 1986, the fact that it is a limited company; 

(q)  in the case of a community interest company which is not a public company, the fact that it is a limited company; and

(r)  in the case of an investment company within the meaning of section 833 of the Act, the fact that it is such a company. 

If, in the case of a company having a share capital, there is a disclosure as to the amount of share capital on - 

(s) its business letters;

(t) its order forms; or

(u)  its websites, that disclosure must be to paid up share capital. 

Where a company's business letter includes the name of any director of that company, other than in the text or as a signatory, the letter must disclose the name of every director of that company.

A company shall disclose -

(v)  the address of its registered office;

(w)  any inspection place; and

(x)  the type of company records which are kept at that office or place, to any person it deals with in the course of business who makes a written request to the company for that information. 

The company shall send a written response to that person within five working days of the receipt of that request. 

2.2 SI 2008/886 Seventh commencement order

The seventh commencement order was laid before Parliament on 17 July 2008 and, with respect to the issue covered below, is in force from 1 October 2008.

The main topic dealt with by the Statutory Instrument is reduction of share capital. 

Sections 641 to 644 of the 2006 Act introduce a new solvency statement procedure for capital reductions which enables private companies to reduce their share capital without having to go to court. This procedure – which may be used as an alternative to the court approved route – requires a special resolution of the company’s members and a solvency statement made by the directors.

The conditions which must be satisfied in order for a private company to reduce its share capital using the new solvency statement procedure are set out in section 642 which provides, amongst other things, that the solvency statement must be made available to the members when they vote on the resolution to reduce the company’s share capital. In addition the solvency statement must be filed with the Registrar of Companies.

The contents of the solvency statement are set out in section 643 of the 2006 Act which provides that each of the directors must confirm that they have formed the opinion, as regards the company’s situation at the date of the statement, that there is no ground on which the company could then be found to be unable to pay (or otherwise discharge) its debts. The directors must also confirm that they have also formed the opinion that the company will be able to pay (or otherwise discharge) its debts as they fall due during the year immediately following that date (or alternatively, if it is intended that the company should commence winding-up proceedings within twelve months of the date that the directors make the solvency statement, the directors must confirm that the company will be able to pay (or otherwise discharge) its debts in full within twelve months of the commencement of the winding up). In all cases the directors must take into account all of the company’s liabilities (including any contingent or prospective liabilities). The solvency statement must also state the date on which it is made and the name of each of the directors of the company.

Whilst the directors may put their name to a single document, this is not essential and each of the directors may make separate solvency statements if they wish. In either case the solvency statement or statements will need to be authenticated by each of the directors who have made it. The form of authentication will be a matter for the Registrar of Companies’ rules in accordance with section 1068 of the 2006 Act. (It should be noted that if one or more of the directors is unable to make a solvency statement the company will not be able to use the solvency statement route to effect a reduction of capital unless the directors who are unable or unwilling to make the solvency statement resign.)

Where a director makes a solvency statement without having reasonable grounds for the opinions expressed in it he commits an offence.

Section 654 states that a reserve arising from a reduction of a company’s share capital is not distributable subject to any provision made by order under the Section. However, SI 2008 No 1915 makes this reserve distributable in the case where capital has been reduced by the solvency statement route. The reserve is also distributable where capital has been reduced following court approval but this is subject to any contrary order by the court.

2.3 Commencement order Number 8

The following provisions of the Companies Act 2006 come into force on 1st October 2009:

Part 1 (general introductory provisions)

· section 1 (companies);

· sections 3 to 6 (types of company);

Part 2 (sections 7 to 16) (company formation); 

Part 3 (a company’s constitution)

· section 17 (a company’s constitution);

· sections 18 to 28 (articles of association);

· sections 31 to 38 (other provisions relating to a company’s constitution);

Part 4 (a company’s capacity and related matters)

· sections 39 to 42 (capacity of company and power of directors to bind it);

· sections 43 and 45 to 47 (formalities of doing business under the law of England and Wales or Northern Ireland);

· section 48 (formalities of doing business under the law of Scotland);

· sections 49 to 52 (other matters);

Part 5 (a company’s name)

· sections 53 to 57 (general requirements);

· sections 58 to 65 (indications of company type or legal form);

· sections 66 to 68 (similarity to other names);

· sections 75 and 76 (powers of Secretary of State in relation to company names);

· sections 77 to 81 (change of name);

Part 6 (sections 86 to 88) (a company’s registered office); 

Part 7 (sections 89 to 111) (re-registration as a means of altering a company’s status); 

Part 8 (a company’s members)

· section 112 (the members of a company);

· sections 113 to 115 and 120 and 122 to 127 (register of members);

· sections 129 to 135 (overseas branch registers);

· sections 136 to 144 (prohibition on subsidiary being member of its holding company);

Part 10 (a company’s directors)— 

· sections 162 to 167 (register of directors);

· sections 240 to 246 (directors’ residential addresses: protection from disclosure);

· section 247 (power to make provision for employees on cessation or transfer of business);

Part 12 (company secretaries), sections 275 to 279 (register of secretaries); 

Part 17 (a company’s share capital) 

· sections 540 to 543 and 545 to 548 (shares and share capital);

· sections 549 to 559 (allotment of shares: general provisions);

· sections 560 to 577 (allotment of equity securities: shareholders’ right of pre-emption);

· sections 578 and 579 (public companies: allotment where issue not fully subscribed);

· sections 580 to 592 (payment for shares);

· sections 593 to 609 (public companies: independent valuation of non-cash consideration);

· sections 610 to 616 (share premiums);

· sections 617 to 628 (alteration of share capital);

· sections 629 to 640 (classes of share and class rights);

· sections 641(1)(b) and 645 to 653 (reduction of share capital confirmed by the court);

· sections 655 to 657 (miscellaneous and supplementary provisions);

Part 18 (sections 658 to 737) (acquisition by limited company of its own shares); 

Part 24 (sections 854 to 859) (a company’s annual return); 

Part 25 (sections 860 to 894) (company charges); 

Part 31 (sections 1000 to 1034) (dissolution and restoration to the register); 

Part 33 (UK companies not formed under companies legislation), sections 1040 to 1042 (companies not formed under companies legislation but authorised to register); 

Part 34 (sections 1044 to 1059) (overseas companies); 

Part 35 (the registrar of companies)

· sections 1060 to 1062 (the registrar);

· section 1063 (fees payable to registrar), so far as not already in force;

· sections 1064 to 1067 (certificates of incorporation and registered numbers);

· sections 1068(1) to (4), (6) and (7) and 1069 to 1071 (delivery of documents to the registrar);

· sections 1072 to 1076 (requirements for proper delivery);

· sections 1081 to 1084 (the register);

· sections 1093 to 1098 (correction or removal of material on the register);

· sections 1099 to 1101 (the registrar’s index of company names);

· sections 1108 to 1110 (language requirements: transliteration);

· sections 1112 to 1120 (supplementary provisions);

Part 36 (offences under the Companies Acts) 

· sections 1121 to 1123 (liability of officer in default);

· section 1125 (meaning of “daily default fine”);

· sections 1127 to 1133 (other provisions);

Part 37 (companies: supplementary provisions)— 

· sections 1134 to 1136, 1137(2), (3) and (5)(a) and 1138 (company records);

· sections 1139 to 1142 (service addresses);

· sections 1149 to 1153 (requirements as to independent valuation);

· sections 1154 and 1155 (notice of appointment of certain officers);

· section 1156 (meaning of “the court”);

Part 38 (companies: interpretation)

· section 1158 (meaning of “UK-registered company”);

· sections 1159 and 1160 and Schedule 6 (meaning of “subsidiary” and related expressions);

· section 1163 (meaning of “non-cash asset”);

· section 1166 (meaning of “employees’ share scheme”);

· sections 1168, 1171, 1173 (so far as not already in force) and 1174 and Schedule 8 (other definitions etc);

Part 39 (companies: minor amendments)

· section 1180 (repeal of certain provisions about company charges);

· section 1181 (access to constitutional documents of RTE and RTM companies);

Part 40 (sections 1182 to 1191) (company directors: foreign disqualification); 

Part 41 (sections 1192 to 1208) (business names); 

Part 44 (miscellaneous provisions)

· section 1275 (levy to pay expenses of bodies concerned with actuarial standards etc);

· section 1283 (commonhold associations);

Part 45 (sections 1284 to 1287) (Northern Ireland).

Full details are set out in a statutory instrument Companies Act 2006 commencement order number 8 

www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2008/uksi_20082860_en_1

2.3.1 Part 1 General Introductory Provisions

This part defines what is meant by the terms “company” and “the Companies Acts”. It goes on to define the types of companies as follows:

· Company limited by shares

· Company limited by guarantee 

· Unlimited company

· Community interest company

A "private company" is any company that is not a public company. 

A "public company" is a company limited by shares or limited by guarantee and having a share capital (see note) - 

(a) Whose certificate of incorporation states that it is a public company, and 

(b) In relation to which the requirements of this Act, or the former Companies Acts, as to registration or re-registration as a public company have been complied with on or after the relevant date. (which, in Great Britain, is 22nd December 1980) 

The two major differences between private and public companies are described in Part 20 of the Act as the prohibition of public offers by private companies and the requirement as to minimum share capital. 

Note that, since 22nd December 1980, it has not been possible to form a company limited by guarantee with a share capital. 

2.3.2 Part 2 Company Formation

A company is formed under the Act by one or more persons: 

(a) subscribing their names to a memorandum of association (see section 8), and 

(b) complying with the requirements of the Act as to registration (see sections 9 to 13). 

A company may not be formed for an unlawful purpose. 

2.3.3 S. 8 Memorandum of association

A memorandum of association is a memorandum stating that the subscribers- 

(a) wish to form a company under the Act, and 

(b) agree to become members of the company and, in the case of a company that is to have a share capital, to take at least one share each. 

The memorandum must be in the prescribed form and must be authenticated by each subscriber. It will not be possible to amend or update the memorandum of a company formed under the 2006 Act.

2.3.4 Requirements for registration 

The memorandum of association must be delivered to the registrar together with an application for registration of the company, the documents required as shown below and a statement of compliance. 

The application for registration must state- 

(a) the company's proposed name, 

(b) whether the company's registered office is to be situated in England and Wales (or in Wales), in Scotland or in Northern Ireland, 

(c) whether the liability of the members of the company is to be limited, and if so whether it is to be limited by shares or by guarantee, and 

(d) whether the company is to be a private or a public company. 

If the application is delivered by a person as agent for the subscribers to the memorandum of association, it must state his name and address. 

The application must contain- 

(a) in the case of a company that is to have a share capital, a statement of capital and initial shareholdings (see section 10); 

(b) in the case of a company that is to be limited by guarantee, a statement of guarantee (see section 11); 

(c) a statement of the company's proposed officers (see section 12). 

The application must also contain- 

(a) a statement of the intended address of the company's registered office; and 

(b) a copy of any proposed articles of association (to the extent that these are not supplied by the default application of model articles: see section 20). 

The statement of compliance required to be delivered to the registrar is a statement that the requirements of the Act as to registration have been complied with. The registrar may accept the statement of compliance as sufficient evidence of compliance.

2.3.5 Part 3: A company's constitution

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in the Companies Acts to a company's constitution include- 

(a) the company's articles, and 

(b) any resolutions and agreements to which Chapter 3 applies. 

2.3.6 Articles of association

A company must have articles of association prescribing regulations for the company. Unless it is a company to which model articles apply by virtue of section 20 (default application of model articles in case of limited company), it must register articles of association. 

The Secretary of State may by regulations prescribe model articles of association for companies. Different model articles may be prescribed for different descriptions of company. A company may adopt all or any of the provisions of model articles. Any amendment of model articles by regulations under this section does not affect a company registered before the amendment takes effect. 

A company may amend its articles by special resolution. In the case of a company that is a charity, this is subject to legislation affecting charities. 

A company's articles may contain provision ("provision for entrenchment") to the effect that specified provisions of the articles may be amended or repealed only if conditions are met, or procedures are complied with, that are more restrictive than those applicable in the case of a special resolution. 

Provision for entrenchment may only be made in the company's articles on formation, or by an amendment of the company's articles agreed to by all the members of the company. 

Provision for entrenchment does not prevent amendment of the company's articles by agreement of all the members of the company, or by order of a court or other authority having power to alter the company's articles. 

The company must give notice to the registrar of the existence of any restriction on amendment of articles or of the removal of such a restriction.

Except where the member agrees in writing, a member of a company is not bound by an alteration to its articles after the date on which he became a member, if and so far as the alteration requires him to take or subscribe for more shares than the number held by him at the date on which the alteration is made, or in any way increases his liability as at that date to contribute to the company's share capital or otherwise to pay money to the company. 

Where a company amends its articles it must send to the registrar a copy of the articles as amended not later than 15 days after the amendment takes effect. 

This section does not require a company to set out in its articles any provisions of model articles that are applied by the articles, or apply by virtue of section 20 (default application of model articles). 

Provisions that immediately before the commencement of Part 3 were contained in a company's memorandum but are not provisions of the kind mentioned in section 8 (provisions of new-style memorandum) are to be treated after the commencement of Part 3 as provisions of the company's articles. This applies not only to substantive provisions but also to provision for entrenchment. 

2.3.7 Other matters affecting the company’s constitution

Chapter 3 requires that a copy of every resolution or agreement affecting a company's constitution, or (in the case of a resolution or agreement that is not in writing) a written memorandum setting out its terms, must be forwarded to the registrar within 15 days after it is passed or made. 

Unless a company's articles specifically restrict the objects of the company, Section 31 states that its objects are unrestricted. In the case of a company that is a charity, the provisions of this section have effect subject to the legislation which applies to that charity. 

Section 32 provides a list of constitutional documents which must be sent to a member on request.

The provisions of a company's constitution bind the company and its members to the same extent as if there were covenants on the part of the company and of each member to observe those provisions. 

In the case of a company limited by guarantee and not having a share capital any provision in the company's articles, or in any resolution of the company, purporting to give a person a right to participate in the divisible profits of the company otherwise than as a member is void. 

2.3.8 Company contracts etc 

Under the law of England and Wales or Northern Ireland a contract may be made by a company, by writing under its common seal, or on behalf of a company, by a person acting under its authority, express or implied. 

Any formalities required by law in the case of a contract made by an individual also apply; unless a contrary intention appears, to a contract made by or on behalf of a company. 

Under the law of England and Wales or Northern Ireland a document is executed by a company by the affixing of its common seal, or by signature in accordance with the following provisions. 

A document is validly executed by a company if it is signed on behalf of the company by two authorised signatories (any director or company secretary), or by a director of the company in the presence of a witness who attests the signature. 

A document executed in this way and expressed, in whatever words, to be executed by the company has the same effect as if executed under the common seal of the company. 

The rest of section 44 gives more detail about the execution of documents.

A company may have a common seal, but need not have one. Section 45 deals with the nature and use of the common seal of the company. Section 49 is headed “Official seal for use abroad” and Section 50 “Official seal for share certificates etc”

Sections 46 and 47 cover execution of deeds and section 48 deals with the formalities of doing business under the law of Scotland 

3 Changes FRSSE 2007 to 2008

3.1 Introduction

FRSSE 2008 introduces no changes to existing accounting requirements but merely reflects the changed legal requirements arising under the CA 2006 for periods beginning 6 April 2008 onwards. For this reason FRSSE 2008 cannot be adopted early.

3.2 Changes

3.2.1 Scope

There are no significant changes concerning scope.

Companies which are able to file small company abbreviated accounts with the Registrar are able to use the FRSSE. Other entities which satisfy the criteria for a small company are also within its scope, with the exception of building societies.

Changes, the following are not permitted to use the FRSSE

· Companies preparing individual or group accounts in accordance with IAS;

· Companies in the financial sector, e-money issuer, MiFID investment firm, and UCITS management company. There is no change to the substance as none of these entities would satisfy the criteria for small under CA 06.

· Persons who have permission under Part 4 FSMA 2000 to carry on a regulated activity. Note this does not apply if the entity is a small company. This restriction applies for entities which are not companies but otherwise would satisfy the small company criteria.

3.2.2 General

Removes the reference to accounts being laid before the company in general meeting as there is no longer a requirement for a private company to have an AGM.

The requirement to disclose liability limitation agreements has been included. Disclosure requirements are:

· Principal terms;

· The date of the resolution approving the principal terms or the date of the resolution waiving the need for such approval.

The FRSSE indicates that the disclosures should be made in the notes. However, s538 permits the disclosure to be made in the directors’ report. The regulations (SI2007/489) do not define principal terms. However, the FRC guidance indicates these as:

· The kind of acts or omissions covered by the agreement;

· The year the agreement relates to; and

· The limit of the auditor’s liability, however expressed.

3.2.3 Financial instruments, share capital and share based payment

The requirement to disclose authorised share capital is deleted.

3.2.4 Related party disclosures

Where the company is a subsidiary the requirement to disclose information concerning then parent is unchanged. However, where the parent is outside the UK the disclosure of the country of incorporation has added the words “if known to directors”.

The wording for transactions with directors has been changed to directors’ benefits: advances and credits. This reflects the terms used in the CA 06. There are important changes in this section resulting from the CA 06. Although not clear in FRSSE 2007 the requirement to disclose loans, quasi loans, credit transactions and guarantees included directors and connected persons.

CA 85 required the disclosure of s330 transactions with directors and those connected with directors. CA 85 s330 was replaced by CA 06 which changed the wording of the transactions and also extended those who were connected with a director. Although this change was made on 1/10/07 there was no change to the disclosure requirements, except to refer to the new sections rather than s330. It should also be remembered that the CA 85 required the disclosure of these transactions in small company abbreviated accounts. 

The disclosure of these transactions was required by both CA 85 and to the extent that they satisfied the requirements, related party disclosures. For example, a loan to the spouse of a director would have been disclosed under CA 85 and very likely under the related party provisions. However, an important distinction is the disclosure in abbreviated accounts. Related party transactions do not need to be disclosed in the abbreviated accounts as these do not show a true and fair view. Whereas transaction required to be disclosed in accordance with the CA 85 were. Given the sensitivity of these disclosures this could be an important consideration.

Example. The company makes a £20,000 loan to the son of a director. How would this be disclosed in the financial statements?

From CA perspective. Prior to the 1/10/07 this is not a transaction with a connected person provided the son was over 18. After the 1/10/07 it is. Therefore for any year end after 1/10/07, and before FYC before 6/4/08 this must be disclosed to comply with CA 85. This transaction must be disclosed in the abbreviated accounts (s246(6)).

From a related party perspective. If the son is part of the close family then the transaction would have to be disclosed. This requirement would only extend to the individual accounts and not abbreviated accounts.

For FYC 6/4/08 the disclosure of these transactions will be in accordance with s413 CA 06. This section makes no reference to connected persons and, assuming no amendment is made in the future, transactions between the company and the connected persons of directors will not be disclosed to comply with the Act. However, if the transaction is a related party transaction then it would be disclosed. The requirements for abbreviated accounts contained in s444(3) and the regulations would indicate that there is no requirement to disclose these transactions with directors.

The disclosure requirements in the FRSSE are as follows:

· It includes all of those who were directors during the period;

· The information for an advance or credit is:

· The amount, separate disclosure is required of the total

· An indication of the interest rate

· Main conditions

· Any amounts repaid, separate disclosure is required of the total

· The information for guarantees is:

· Main terms

· Amount of maximum liability, separate disclosure is required of the total

· Any amounts paid or any liability incurred, separate disclosure is required of the total

· The disclosure is required if the transaction subsisted at any time in the year.

Previous disclosure requirements were similar, but more detailed, than the above. Any relaxation in the disclosure requirements would be covered by the general requirements for related parties. For example, there is no longer a requirement to disclose the amount due at the beginning and end of period, but this would be required if it is a related party transaction.

The CA 06 requires the disclosure of transactions with directors, not with any parties they may be connected or in which they have an interest. Therefore, the disclosure of “material interest transactions” will only be required if they are related party transactions.

3.2.5 Changes to connected persons

Connected persons is a complex term defined in section 252. Many of the provisions that apply to directors also apply to connected persons.

Accounting standards use the term close family to include other individuals and companies under common control or management. The two terms are not identical and each must be applied in the context of the requirements. This can be important in determining which matters need to be disclosed.

Section 252 defines that a person is connected with a director if they are not themselves directors and:

· They are members of the director’s family. The family is defined as

· Spouse or civil partner

· Any other person with whom the director lives in an enduring family relationship. This does not include grandparent, grandchild, sister, brother, aunt, uncle, nephew, niece

· The director’s children and step children (there is no longer any reference to the age of 18)

· Any children of any person with whom the director lives (above) who are not the director’s children or step children, who have not attained the age of 18 and live with the director

· The director’s parents

· Body corporate with which the director is connected. This is defined as:

· Have an interest in the shares of 20% or more or can control 20% or more of the votes at any general meeting

· The interest can be direct or indirect, i.e. personally owning the shares or a company he controls owns the shares or controls the votes

· In this respect control is defined as the director and connected persons are interested in the equity share capital and the director, connected persons and fellow directors are interested in more than 50% of the voting rights

· A person acting in his capacity of trustee of any trust the beneficiaries of which include the director’s family (as defined above) or a body corporate (as above). , his spouse, or any children or step children under the age of 18 (excludes employees share schemes and pension schemes)

3.2.6 Group accounts

Most parent companies heading small group take advantage of the exemption from preparing group accounts. For those that do not:

A requirement to show details in group accounts of directors’ benefits from subsidiaries is not required.

A modification for the Profit and Loss account when preparing group accounts by replacing “income from participating interests” with “income from interests in associated undertakings” and “income from other participating interests”

3.2.7 Directors remuneration

Uses the term directors’ remuneration rather than emoluments.

3.2.8 Directors’ report

Separates political donation disclosures from charitable donation disclosures and adds a new requirement to disclose donations to an independent election candidate, with a revised threshold of £2,000 (previously £200).

New text confirming that where the company is a parent and chooses to prepare group accounts, the directors’ report must be a group report.

The requirements to disclose directors’ interests have been deleted (change occurred in April 2007)

3.2.9 Definitions

A revised definition of a Director’s family for legal purposes – the definition is now (A) director’s spouse or civil partner (B) any other person (whether of a different sex or the same sex) with whom the director lives in an enduring family relationship (C) the director’s children or step-children (D) any children or step-children within paragraph B (and who are not children or step-children of the director) who live with the director and have not attained the age of 18, and (E) the director’s parents – it excludes a person who is a director of the company.

3.2.10 Legal aspects

New thresholds for companies and groups to qualify as small (see below).

New Small Company and Group Thresholds for accounting periods beginning on or after 6 April 2008

Turnover 
Balance Sheet total 
Average Employees

Company 
£6.5m 


£3.26m 


50

Group - net 
£6.5m 


£3.26m 


50

Group - gross 
£7.8m 


£3.9m 



50

In deciding whether a company or group qualifies on the basis of satisfying the criteria for two consecutive years, the new limits are also applied to the comparatives

4 Related party transactions

4.1 Introduction

The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 contain in paragraph 72(5) of schedule 1 the statement that in paragraph 72, the term ”related party” has the same meaning as in international accounting standards. 

This means that the ASB must amend FRS 8 to align the definition of a related party in UK standards with the definition in the International standard IAS 24. Without such an amendment to FRS 8 a conflict would arise between that standard and the Companies Act requirement.

FRED 41 was issued in 2007 and included proposals to replace FRS 8 with a Financial Reporting Standard based on the revised IAS 24. As well as ensuring consistency between the requirements of accounting standards and company law, FRED 41 would also improve convergence between UK and International Financial Reporting Standards. 

In Inside Track Issue No 57, published in October, the ASB reported that the IASB has deferred the issue of the revised IAS 24 and as such, the ASB will now issue an amendment to FRS 8 to bring the definition of related parties into line with CA 2006.

Presumably this means that the goal of improved convergence has, for the foreseeable future, been abandoned. 

4.2 The requirements of Companies Act 2006

These are contained in paragraph 72 of Schedule 1 of The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. This paragraph is reproduced in full below.

72.—(1) Particulars may be given of transactions which the company has entered into with related parties, and must be given if such transactions are material and have not been concluded under normal market conditions (see regulation 4(2) for exemption for medium-sized companies).

(2) The particulars of transactions required to be disclosed by sub-paragraph (1) must include—

(a) the amount of such transactions, 

(b) the nature of the related party relationship, and 

(c) other information about the transactions necessary for an understanding of the financial position of the company. 

(3) Information about individual transactions may be aggregated according to their nature, except where separate information is necessary for an understanding of the effects of related party transactions on the financial position of the company.

(4) Particulars need not be given of transactions entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary undertaking which is a party to the transaction is wholly-owned by such a member.

(5) In this paragraph, “related party” has the same meaning as in international accounting standards.

4.3 Revised Definitions

4.3.1 Related party

A party is related to an entity if:

(a) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party:

(i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the entity (this includes parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries);

(ii) has an interest in the entity that gives it significant influence over the entity; or

(iii) has joint control over the entity;

(b) the party is an associate (as defined in FRS 9, Associates and joint ventures) of the entity;

(c) the party is a joint venture in which the entity is a venturer (as defined in FRS 9, Associates and joint ventures);

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the entity or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in subparagraph (a) or (d);

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e); or 

(g) the party is a retirement benefit scheme for the benefit of employees of the entity, or of any entity that is a related party of the entity.

Comment: Notice that the format has been changed from the old definition and we no longer have reference to those who are deemed to be related parties and those who are presumed to be related parties. It is being suggested by commentators that the change in definition will have little impact in practice but it is interesting to note the following example which appeared in the previous set of quarterly notes:

4.3.2 Key management personnel

Those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity.

Comment: contrast this with the old definition of “Key management” as those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities and resources of the reporting entity.

The following definitions have not been changed:

4.3.3 Close family

Close members of the family of an individual are those family members, or members of the same household, who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the reporting entity.

4.3.4 Control

The ability to direct the financial and operating policies of an entity with a view to gaining economic benefits from its activities.

4.3.5 Persons acting in concert

Persons who, pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), actively co-operate, whether by the ownership by any of them of shares in an undertaking or otherwise, to exercise control or influence over that undertaking.

Comment: it is interesting that the definition of “persons acting in concert” is included in the revised FRS 8 but the phrase itself is never actually used anywhere else in the standard.

4.4 Other changes

4.4.1 Scope

The revised FRS 8 does not require disclosure of transactions entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary undertaking which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by a member of that group.

Reporting entities taking advantage of the exemption above are required to state that fact.

Comment: In the existing FRS 8, the exemption applied to subsidiary undertakings, 90% or more of whose voting rights were controlled within the group. The existing requirement for the subsidiary to be included in consolidated financial statements which are publicly available is not repeated in the revised FRS 8.

4.4.2 Transitional provision 

FRS 28 Corresponding Amounts requires corresponding amounts in respect of every item stated in the notes to the financial statements. Entities, which previously took advantage of the exemption provided by FRS 8, and did not provide information for 90 per cent subsidiary undertakings may be unable to provide corresponding amounts in the first year of adopting this amendment. Corresponding amounts need not be provided where this information cannot be obtained in the first year of adopting this amendment. Entities that do not provide corresponding amounts should provide an explanation in the notes to the financial statements.  

Disclosure of material transactions not concluded under normal market conditions

The Regulations include a requirement for particulars to be given in the notes to the accounts of transactions which an entity has entered into with a related party, where such transactions are material and have not been concluded under normal market conditions. The Amendment to FRS 8 clarifies that this requirement will be met by complying with FRS 8, which requires disclosure of all material related party transactions. 

5 A new HMRC attack on provisions

Based on feedback from delegates on recent courses it seems that the Inspector of Taxes in certain locations around the country has started to challenge the provision for accountancy services in certain situations.

5.1 Situation

X Ltd starts trading on 1 January 2007 and has a year end of 31 March 2008.  The directors have been working very hard in the business and have not given much thought to administrative issues. They do not get around to appointing accountants to help prepare their 31 March 2008 accounts until June 2008.

The accounts are prepared by a firm of qualified accountants in August 2008 and the accounts are then filed and used as the basis for the tax computation.  In the accounts there is a provision for the preparation of the accounts of £3,000. 

The Inspector has suggested that this is not an appropriate provision under FRS 12.

FRS 12 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets states that a provision should be recognised when:

a)
an entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

b)
it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and

c)
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If these conditions are not met, no provisions should be recognised.

The Inspector’s challenge is based upon a) above not being met.  That is to say that there is no obligation to appoint accountants to prepare the accounts at the year end.  They could have chosen to prepare them without help and free of charge. 

Question 1: Is the Inspector right or is this an appropriate provision under FRS 12?  

Question 2: Would it make any difference if the appointment had been made and an engagement letter had been signed before 31 March 2008?

Question 3: How would your answers to 1 and 2 differ if the company required an audit? 

6 CONSOLIDATION OF MEDIUM SIZED GROUPS

6.1 Need to Consolidate Medium Sized Groups

One of the changes brought in by the Companies Act 2006 is a requirement for parent companies of medium sized groups to prepare consolidated accounts. Such groups were previously exempt under s248(1) of the Companies Act 1985 but the new regime applies for periods commencing 6 April 2008.

There are a number of implications arising from the removal of this exemption beyond the obvious change in the content of the financial statements.

6.2 Mechanics of consolidation

Assuming an April year-end, it will not be just the April 2009 results that have to be consolidated. It will be necessary to consolidate the results for 2008 (to provide comparatives) and for 2007 (to provide opening figures and to prepare the cash flow statement).

In the past many practices have not had to worry about group accounts, as none of the groups they deal with are large groups. How confident are you that you know how to prepare a set of consolidated accounts? Similarly, does the accounting software used by your firm handle consolidated accounts? 

6.3 Ethical issues

Unless all of the subsidiaries in the group have been wholly-owned from incorporation it will be necessary to revisit the acquisition of each subsidiary to consider issues such as the fair value of assets acquired, goodwill, pre-acquisition profits, minority interests etc. This point raises a number of questions:

•
Who will do this work? In many cases the client will not have the resources and will expect you as the auditor to do it for them. 

•
Does the client have the necessary information available (essentially a set of accounts for the subsidiary at the date of acquisition)? 

•
If the client has the information available and the group structure is straightforward then it should not be a problem implementing appropriate safeguards for the accounting services provided. However, if complete information is not available or if the group structure is complicated it may be that significant judgements will be necessary in arriving at some of the numbers in the consolidated accounts. In such circumstances would the effectiveness of the available safeguards be sufficient to reduce the self-review threat to an acceptable level?

6.4 Other matters

•
A new engagement letter will be required that addresses the audit of consolidated accounts. 

•
There will be fee implications and the client should be warned in advance that costs will increase. 

•
Will there be an impact on the timetable for the preparation of the accounts? 

•
Does the firm audit the entire group? 

6.5 Action Points

1.
Planning is key: don’t wait for problems to arise before you take action!

2.
Identify the clients that will be affected now so that you can start to address the issues. 

3.
Involve the client in as much of the information gathering as possible. This will help to reduce costs and also help to mitigate any self-review threat. 

4.
Where judgements are required, involve the client as much as possible in determining the numbers and obtain their agreement to the approach taken. This will help to demonstrate informed management in these areas. 

7 The disclosure of director transactions under CA 2006

7.1 Introduction

Disclosure of transactions involving directors may be required by:

· Company law provisions

· Accounting standards provisions

These notes refer to company law provisions with some references to accounting standards requirements.

7.2 Company law provisions

The CA 2006 includes two sections concerning disclosure of director transactions; 412 and 413. Section 412 covers the disclosure of director’s remuneration and has associated Regulations. Section 413 covers advances and credits and does not have any associated Regulations.

7.3 Section 413

413 Information about directors' benefits: advances, credit and guarantees

(1) In the case of a company that does not prepare group accounts, details of-

(a) advances and credits granted by the company to its directors, and

(b) guarantees of any kind entered into by the company on behalf of its directors,

must be shown in the notes to its individual accounts.

(2) In the case of a parent company that prepares group accounts, details of-

(a) advances and credits granted to the directors of the parent company, by that company or by any of its subsidiary undertakings, and

(b) guarantees of any kind entered into on behalf of the directors of the parent company, by that company or by any of its subsidiary undertakings,

must be shown in the notes to the group accounts.

(3) The details required of an advance or credit are-

(a) its amount,

(b) an indication of the interest rate,

(c) its main conditions, and

(d) any amounts repaid.

(4) The details required of a guarantee are-

(a) its main terms,

(b) the amount of the maximum liability that may be incurred by the company (or its subsidiary), and

(c) any amount paid and any liability incurred by the company (or its subsidiary) for the purpose of fulfilling the guarantee (including any loss incurred by reason of enforcement of the guarantee).

(5) There must also be stated in the notes to the accounts the totals-

(a) of amounts stated under subsection (3)(a),

(b) of amounts stated under subsection (3)(d),

(c) of amounts stated under subsection (4)(b), and

(d) of amounts stated under subsection (4)(c).

(6) References in this section to the directors of a company are to the persons who were a director at any time in the financial year to which the accounts relate.

(7) The requirements of this section apply in relation to every advance, credit or guarantee subsisting at any time in the financial year to which the accounts relate-

(a) whenever it was entered into,

(b) whether or not the person concerned was a director of the company in question at the time it was entered into, and

(c) in the case of an advance, credit or guarantee involving a subsidiary undertaking of that company, whether or not that undertaking was such a subsidiary undertaking at the time it was entered into.

(8) Banking companies and the holding companies of credit institutions need only state the details required by subsections (3)(a) and (4)(b).

7.3.1 Are the disclosures required in the abbreviated accounts of a small company?

This is open to interpretation. 

Section 413(1) requires the information to be disclosed in the individual accounts. The term individual accounts is defined in section 386:

396 Companies Act individual accounts

(1) Companies Act individual accounts must comprise-

(a) a balance sheet as at the last day of the financial year, and

(b) a profit and loss account.

(3) The accounts must comply with provision made by the Secretary of State by regulations as to-

(a) the form and content of the balance sheet and profit and loss account, and

(b) additional information to be provided by way of notes to the accounts.

The term abbreviated accounts is included in section 444

444 Filing obligations of companies subject to small companies regime

(1) The directors of a company subject to the small companies regime-

(a) must deliver to the registrar for each financial year a copy of a balance sheet drawn up as at the last day of that year, and

(b) may also deliver to the registrar-

(i) a copy of the company's profit and loss account for that year, and

(ii) a copy of the directors' report for that year.

(3) The copies of accounts and reports delivered to the registrar must be copies of the company's annual accounts and reports, except that where the company prepares Companies Act accounts-

(a) the directors may deliver to the registrar a copy of a balance sheet drawn up in accordance with regulations made by the Secretary of State, and

(b) there may be omitted from the copy profit and loss account delivered to the registrar such items as may be specified by the regulations.

These are referred to in this Part as "abbreviated accounts".

Where a company does not deliver the profit and loss account these have been referred to in the past by Companies House as filleted accounts. It is important to remember that companies subject to the small regime have two filing options. This is clear from the guidance that appears on Companies House website under Companies Act 2006 FAQs.

Audit exempt small companies 

Audit exempt small companies with accounting periods starting on or after 06/04/2008 must include the following statements on the balance sheet;

For the year ending ………………(dd/mm/yyyy) the company was entitled to exemption from audit under section 477 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies.  

Director's responsibilities; 

The members have not required the company to obtain an audit of its accounts for the year in question in accordance with section 476, 

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Act with respect to accounting records and the preparation of accounts 

These accounts have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject to the small companies regime. 

Note: Small companies that do not deliver abbreviated accounts may also choose not to include a copy of the Directors report and/or a copy of the profit and loss.  In this case the balance sheet must also contain the following statement: 

‘The accounts have been delivered in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject to the small companies regime.’

The regulations refer to this as follows:

Accounts for delivery to registrar of companies (Companies Act individual accounts)

6

(1) The directors of a company for which they are preparing Companies Act individual accounts may deliver to the registrar of companies under section 444 of the 2006 Act (filing obligations of companies subject to small companies regime) a copy of a balance sheet which complies with Schedule 4 to these Regulations rather than Schedule 1.

(2) Companies Act individual accounts delivered to the registrar need not give the information required by -

(a) paragraph 4 of Schedule 2 to these Regulations (shares of company held by subsidiary undertakings), or

(b) Schedule 3 to these Regulations (directors' benefits).

This includes no reference to the term abbreviated accounts, which is referred to in s444(3). It does refer to the individual accounts. Which or are both options under s444 being referred to in regulation 6?

Unlike schedule 8A of the 1985 Act there is no clear description of abbreviated accounts. In addition s246 of the 1985 Act was clear as to which parts of schedule 6 were not included in accounts filed with the Registrar and hence, by default, what was. The small company regulations schedule 4 states the following:

1

(1) A company may deliver to the registrar a copy of the balance sheet showing the items listed in either of the balance sheet formats set out below, in the order and under the headings and sub-headings given in the format adopted, but in other respects corresponding to the full balance sheet.

The above could be interpreted as that is all that needs to be included in abbreviated accounts. There is no reference to s413 in schedule 4, hence disclosures are not required.

Without a clear indication in the current legislation this will be open to interpretation.

The ICAEW has stated the following in its Technical Enquires Service FAQ April 2009

Should the disclosures required by section 413 Companies Act 2006 (Information about directors’ benefits: advances, credit and guarantees) be included in small company abbreviated accounts?

It appears the legislation could be open to interpretation. Sec 444 of the CA 2006 and Reg 6 of SI 2008/409 indicate a requirement only to deliver a balance sheet and notes and the balance sheet and notes delivered can comply with Sch 4 of SI 2008/409. Therefore, by implication, there is no need for the sec 413 directors' loans disclosures.

However, as far as we are aware, there was no intention to change the law in this respect through Companies Act 2006. S444(3) says that the copy filed with the Registrar needs to be the same as the full accounts, except that the balance sheet can be prepared in accordance with regulations (which is Sch 4 to the small co regs), and s444(1) exempts you from filing the P&L and directors' report (or rather, makes filing optional).

In conclusion it is not clear that disclosure of directors loan and other related transactions have to be made in small company abbreviated accounts, but as there was no known intention of changing this requirement, would say our recommendation would be to continue to make disclosure

7.3.2 What is an advance, credit and guarantee?

None of these terms appear in schedule 8, index of defined expressions.

Guarantee

There is a clear reference to guarantees in Part 10 of the Act and one could assume that s413 is referring to these transactions. Section 197 states:
(1) A company may not-

(a) make a loan to a director of the company or of its holding company, or

(b) give a guarantee or provide security in connection with a loan made by any person to such a director, unless the transaction has been approved by a resolution of the members of the company.

If it is assumed that it is these transactions which are included in section 413 then this would follow the general approach to what were section 330 transactions in the 1985 Act and were covered by the disclosure requirements of schedule 6 parts 2 and 3. Although it should be noted that such transactions were not permitted under the 1985 Act. If therefore the intention was not to change the legislation this would appear to be a valid interpretation. If one was to apply a wider aspect it could include guarantees given by the director in respect of the company. However, the disclosure requirements in s413(4) make it clear that it is guarantees given by the company.

Credit

As with guarantees the term credit may refer to Part 10 transactions. Section 202 defines a credit transaction as:

(1) A "credit transaction" is a transaction under which one party ("the creditor")- 

(a) supplies any goods or sells any land under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement, 

(b) leases or hires any land or goods in return for periodical payments, or 

(c) otherwise disposes of land or supplies goods or services on the understanding that payment (whether in a lump sum or instalments or by way of periodical payments or otherwise) is to be deferred.

As with guarantees this would follow the approach taken under the 1985 Act.

Advances

There is no reference to the term advances anywhere in the Act. The 1985 Act did not include this term either. Therefore what is included in this disclosure requirement is open to interpretation. If one assumes that as the previous two were related to Part 10 transactions and this is as well then there are only two other types of transactions that can be covered. These are loans and quasi loans.

It is also important to distinguish the requirements of s204 in respect of expenditure on company business. This may have been referred to on a generic basis as an advance but this term does not appear in either the 1985 or 2006 Act. This section states that an amount given to a director to meet expenditure to be incurred will not require approval as a loan provided the amount is less than £50,000. The amount is in aggregate with All other similar transactions. This does not exempt these transactions as loans but merely does not require members approval.

Therefore in considering advances there may be three types of transactions to be considered:

· Loans to directors

· Quasi loans to directors

· Advances for expenditure

So which ones are included?

There is likely to be a significant effect on OMBs simply due to the nature of the relationship between the company and the directors. Many OMBs have director current accounts which may fluctuate between debit and credit. If the current account remains in credit throughout the entire period then s413 will have no effect. The section is clear that it is “to its directors” and not from.

Directors receiving an advance for expenditure to be incurred on the companies behalf will be a common transaction in many companies. In respect of this we could go back to the requirements of schedule 6 of the 1985 Act. Schedule 6 was amended on 1 October 2007 to include Part 10 transactions of the 2006 Act. 
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The group accounts of a holding company, or if it is not required to prepare group accounts its individual accounts, shall contain the particulars required by this Schedule of -

(a) any transaction or arrangement of a kind described in section 197, 198, 200, 201 or 203 of the Companies Act 2006 entered into by the company or by a subsidiary of the company for a person who at any time during the financial year was a director of the company or its holding company, or was connected with such a director;

Note the reference in italics was repealed for accounting periods ending on or after 6 April 2008. (SI2008/948)

Sections 197 and 198 covers loans and quasi loans (respectively) to directors and the requirement for members approval. Therefore it could be argued that if section 204 states approval is not required then the transaction falls outside of section 197 and hence would not be required to be disclosed. However, section 207 gives exceptions to 197 and 198 for minor and business transactions. If the value of the loan, quasi loan and guarantee does not exceed £10,000 then approval is not required. Using the same basis this would imply these would also avoid disclosure. This would indicate a clear change from the requirements in place before 1 October 2007. Paragraph 15 referred to section 330 and this made no reference to approval being required, it prohibited the transaction with section 334 permitting loans of up to £5,000.

Therefore if one is looking at consistency and what was required in the past then there have been too many changes to draw a conclusion.

Is a loan or quasi loan an advance?

This will be a matter of interpretation.

7.3.3 What level of disclosure is required?

Section 413(3), (4), and (5) indicate the disclosure requirements.

Section 413(3) uses the words “of an” which implies a single transaction. It would therefore appear to envisage a specific transaction where and advance or credit is provided to the director. For this reason there is no requirement to indicate the balance due at the balance sheet date. Using a combination of the amounts disclosed in (a) to (d) would allow the reader to calculate the amount.

This disclosure requirement is different to that in schedule 6. This required the value at the beginning and end of the year to be disclosed together with the maximum amount outstanding during the period. There was no reference to “an” and hence the disclosure of director current accounts was straight forward.

Applying these requirements to the OMB may lead to extensive disclosure. It may also be difficult to establish each of the “an”s. As stated above if the current account remains in credit then there will be no disclosure required by the Act. If however it regularly moves from credit to debit and there are a number of transactions the requirements of s413 will require some consideration. It should also be noted that s413(5) requires disclosure of aggregate figures.

The ICAEW has stated the following in its Technical Enquires Service FAQ April 2009

It appears from the legislation that every single loan transaction with a director has to be disclosed, this would be impractical where there are numerous transactions with a director during the year in the form of a director’s current account?

Agreed, the legislation (s413 Companies Act 2006) does seem to make this a requirement, there is no further guidance on this subject at present except to suggest that the disclosures do have to be made for each loan payment to a director.

7.3.4 What about transactions in which the director has a material interest?

These are not included in the requirements of s413 not within the regulations. Therefore the disclosure of these transactions on a statutory basis is no longer required.

7.3.5 What about accounting standards?

There will be some duplication in the disclosure requirements. Therefore a transaction which is not disclosed on a statutory basis may need to be disclosed to comply with accounting standards. Therefore as far as the individual accounts are concerned there is no difference. However, for small companies filing abbreviated accounts there is an impact. The APB have indicated in the past that the abbreviated accounts of a small company do not show a true and fair view. On this basis any disclosures required by accounting standards only do not have to be included. Therefore distinguishing between those which are disclosed on a statutory basis, and those on a standards basis could be important. However, as noted above, whether these disclosures are made in the abbreviated accounts of a small company is open to interpretation.

It may also be worth considering that if the company is filing abbreviated individual accounts the requirements of s396.

396 Companies Act individual accounts

(2) The accounts must- 

(a) in the case of the balance sheet, give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial year, and 

(b) in the case of the profit and loss account, give a true and fair view of the profit or loss of the company for the financial year.

7.3.6 What about dividends paid to directors, are these related party transactions?

This is matter of current debate.

The ICAEW has stated the following in its Technical Enquires Service FAQ April 2009

Are dividends to directors disclosable as related party transactions?

Yes, dividends to directors do meet the definition of related party transactions and are disclosable as such. Prior to 06/04/07, directors interests were disclosed in directors reports and it was generally accepted that a reader could determine dividends to directors on the basis of their shareholdings disclosed, and therefore there was a consensus of opinion that this was sufficient to meet the related party transaction disclosure requirements. However, subsequent to 06/04/07, as a result of changes in Companies Act 2006, directors interest disclosures are no longer required, hence the requirement to disclose dividends

However, some commentators have indicated in the past that any disclosure made in the directors’ report is not part of the financial statements. Therefore any disclosures made in the directors’ report do not satisfy the disclosure requirements of accounting standards.

8 DEFERRED TAX

Changes to the Capital Allowances regime could have a significant impact on accounting for deferred tax for smaller entities.  The introduction of the 100% annual investment allowance (£50,000) and the availability of 100% first year allowances for green cars and certain other environmentally friendly assets might mean that previously immaterial deferred tax liabilities grow to become material.  Therefore, this is an ideal opportunity to revisit FRS 19. 

8.1 Case studies

8.1.1 Situation 1

The directors of R Ltd have a depreciation policy which is to charge on a straight line basis at 20% per annum. On this basis, they have never bothered to include deferred tax in their accounts since, they claim, the amount must be trivial. They provide the following as supporting evidence for their view:

Suppose an asset is purchased for £20,000 at the start of year 1. Capital allowances are calculated on the basis of a 20% per annum writing down allowance. The appropriate tax rate is 22%.

	Year
	NBV of asset
	Tax WDV
	Difference
	Deferred tax (Liability)/asset

	
	
	
	
	

	1
	16,000
	16,000
	0
	0

	2
	12,000
	12,800
	800
	176

	3
	8,000
	10,240
	2,240
	493

	4
	4,000
	8,192
	4,192
	922

	5
	0
	6,554
	6,554
	1,442


The directors argue that there is never a liability; the asset is immaterial and, anyway, it would not be prudent to recognise a deferred tax asset.

Is the directors’ view acceptable? 

Situation 2

How would the situation change if the tax regime was altered so that there was a first year allowance of 40% which replaced the writing down allowance in that year?

Situation 3

How would the situation change if the tax regime was altered so that all fixed asset purchases qualified for a first year allowance of 100%. 

Situation 4 

A new business purchases £50,000 of fixed assets each year. In year two, it buys a low emissions vehicle for £20,000 which it then replaces every 3 years. All assets are depreciated over 5 years. 

	Turnover
	£750,000

	Profit
	£100,000

	Balance Sheet
	£400,000


Is deferred tax material?

8.2 Comments on case studies

8.2.1 Situation 1

We often talk about accelerated capital allowances as being the usual source of a deferred tax balance. However, if a company depreciates its assets fairly quickly then there is more likely to be a deferred tax asset. In the profitable company, there is no reason why this asset should not be recoverable.

The directors have only looked at one asset. Consider the situation that arises if the company undertakes regular capital expenditure. 

Suppose that a new company spends £20,000 per annum on fixed assets which qualify for capital allowances. Assets are disposed of at the end of their expected useful life – there are no disposal proceeds. All other assumptions are as before.

Here is the calculation of the fixed assets net book value:

	Year
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	7

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Fixed assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Brought forward
	0
	20000
	40000
	60000
	80000
	100000
	100000

	Additions
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000

	Disposals
	
	
	
	
	
	20000
	20000

	Carried forward
	20000
	40000
	60000
	80000
	100000
	100000
	100000

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Brought forward
	0
	4000
	12000
	24000
	40000
	60000
	60000

	Charge for year
	4000
	8000
	12000
	16000
	20000
	20000
	20000

	Disposals
	
	
	
	
	
	20000
	20000

	Carried forward
	4000
	12000
	24000
	40000
	60000
	60000
	60000

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	16000
	28000
	36000
	40000
	40000
	40000
	40000


The net book value will now remain stable at £40,000

This is the calculation of tax written down value and deferred tax for the same period:

	Year
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	7

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Tax written down value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Brought forward
	0
	16000
	28800
	39040
	47232
	53786
	59028

	Additions
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000

	Total 
	20000
	36000
	48800
	59040
	67232
	73786
	79028

	WDA
	4000
	7200
	9760
	11808
	13446
	14757
	15806

	Carried forward
	16000
	28800
	39040
	47232
	53786
	59028
	63223

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Tax WDV - NBV
	0
	800
	3040
	7232
	13786
	19028
	23223

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax asset
	0
	176
	669
	1591
	3033
	4186
	5109


Note that the deferred tax asset will go on increasing until year 47 when it reaches its stable balance of £8,800.

8.2.2 Situation 2

The introduction of a first year allowance of 40% will initially give rise to a deferred tax liability. This, however, will be rapidly overtaken by reversing timing differences. Using the same example as before, we obtain the following calculation of tax written down value and deferred tax:

	Year
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	7

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Tax written down value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Brought forward
	0
	12000
	21600
	29280
	35424
	40339
	44271

	Additions
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000

	First year allowance
	8000
	8000
	8000
	8000
	8000
	8000
	8000

	WDA
	0
	2400
	4320
	5856
	7085
	8068
	8854

	Carried forward
	12000
	21600
	29280
	35424
	40339
	44271
	47417

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Tax WDV - NBV
	-4000
	-6400
	-6720
	-4576
	339
	4271
	7417

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax
	-880
	-1408
	-1478
	-1007
	75
	940
	1632


The deferred tax asset will increase until year 46 when it reaches its stable balance of £4,400

8.2.3 Situation 3

This is the simplest situation:

	Year
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Tax written down value
	
	
	
	
	

	Brought forward
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Additions
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000

	Annual investment allowance
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000
	20000

	Carried forward
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	
	
	
	
	
	

	NBV - Tax WDV
	16000
	28000
	36000
	40000
	40000

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax
	3520
	6160
	7920
	8800
	8800


By the end of year 4, the deferred tax balance reaches its stable position which can be calculated as (net book value x tax rate).

8.2.4 Situation 4

	Year
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	7

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Fixed assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Brought forward
	0
	50,000
	120,000
	170,000
	220,000
	270,000
	270,000

	Additions
	50,000
	70,000
	50,000
	50,000
	70,000
	50,000
	50,000

	Disposals
	
	
	
	
	20,000
	50,000
	50,000

	Carried forward
	50,000
	120,000
	170,000
	220,000
	270,000
	270,000
	270,000

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Brought forward
	0
	10,000
	34,000
	68,000
	112,000
	154,000
	158,000

	Charge for year
	10,000
	24,000
	34,000
	44,000
	54,000
	54,000
	54,000

	Disposals
	
	
	
	
	12,000
	50,000
	50,000

	Carried forward
	10,000
	34,000
	68,000
	112,000
	154,000
	158,000
	162,000

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	40,000
	86,000
	102,000
	108,000
	116,000
	112,000
	108,000

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Tax written down value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Brought forward
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	Additions
	50,000
	70,000
	50,000
	50,000
	70,000
	50,000
	50,000

	Capital allowance
	50,000
	70,000
	50,000
	50,000
	70,000
	50,000
	50,000

	Carried forward
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	NBV - Tax WDV
	40,000
	86,000
	102,000
	108,000
	116,000
	112,000
	108,000

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax
	8,800
	18,920
	22,440
	23,760
	25,520
	24,640
	23,760


Given the performance of the company materiality is in the region of £10,000.  In a number of the previous situations, deferred tax would not have been material but it becomes so in this example.

9 DISCLOSURE OF AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

9.1 Small and medium-sized companies

In line with the requirements of both CA 1985 (SI 2005/2417) and CA 2006 (SI 2008/489), small and medium-sized companies must disclose the following in a note to the annual accounts:

(a)
the amount of any remuneration receivable by the company’s auditor for the auditing of the accounts

(b)
the nature and estimated monetary value of any benefits in kind

(c)
where more than one person has been appointed as a company’s auditor during the period, separate disclosure in respect of the remuneration for each such person.

9.2 Medium-sized companies

Under SI 2008/489, there are new requirements concerning auditor’s remuneration. The new requirements apply in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 6 April 2008 and are relevant to medium-sized companies only. In order to meet the new requirements, the notes to the accounts should also disclose total remuneration receivable by the auditor under the following headings:

(a)
Assurance services other than auditing of the company's accounts.

(b)
Tax advisory services.

(c)
Other services.

9.3 Companies which are not small or medium-sized companies

For completeness, these notes also include the disclosures required for companies that are not small or medium-sized. Again these disclosures are unchanged from those required previously.

A company that is not small or medium-sized should disclose the following in respect of remuneration of the auditor(s) in a note to the annual accounts:

(a)
any remuneration receivable by the company's auditor for the auditing of those accounts;

(b)
any remuneration receivable for the supply of other services to the company or any associate of the company by:

(i)
the company's auditor; or

(ii)
any person who was, at any time during the period to which the accounts relate, an associate of the company's auditor;

(c)
the nature and estimated money-value of any benefits in kind included in the remuneration above;

Separate disclosure is required in respect of the auditing of the accounts in question and of each type of service in the following list:

(a)
The auditing of accounts of associates of the company pursuant to legislation (including that of countries and territories outside the UK).

(b)
Other services supplied pursuant to such legislation.

(c)
Other services relating to taxation.

(d)
Services relating to information technology.

(e)
Internal audit services.

(f)
Valuation and actuarial services.

(g)
Services relating to litigation.

(h)
Services relating to recruitment and remuneration.

(i)
Services relating to corporate finance transactions entered into or proposed to be entered into by or on behalf of the company or any of its associates.

(j)
All other services.

Separate disclosure is required in respect of services supplied to the company and its subsidiaries on the one hand and to associated pension schemes on the other.

Where more than one person has been appointed as a company's auditor in respect of the period to which the accounts relate, separate disclosure is required in respect

of the remuneration of each such person and his associates.

10 IFRS FOR SMES

10.1 Introduction

The international Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has published the International financial reporting standards for small and medium-sized entities (IFRSSME). This is of interest to us in the UK because the UK Accounting Standards Board (ASB) has tentatively proposed that the IFRSSME should replace UK GAAP. To this end, it is expected that the ASB will issue a consultation document within the next few months.

In these notes we will consider extracts from the IFRS for SMEs factsheet issued by the IASB to coincide with the publication of the IFRS for SMEs.

10.2 Five types of simplifications

The IFRS for SMEs contains five types of simplifications of full IFRSs:

· some topics in IFRSs are omitted because they are not relevant to typical SMEs

· some accounting policy options in full IFRSs are not allowed because a more simplified method is available to SMEs

· simplification of many of the recognition and measurement principles that are in full IFRSs

· substantially fewer disclosures

· simplified redrafting

10.3 Omitted topics

The IFRS for SMEs does not address the following topics that are covered in full IFRSs:

· earnings per share

· interim financial reporting

· segment reporting

· special accounting for assets held for sale

10.4 Examples of options in full IFRSs NOT included in the IFRS for SMEs

· financial instrument options, including available-for-sale, held-to-maturity and fair value options

· the revaluation model for property, plant and equipment, and for intangible assets 

· proportionate consolidation for investments in jointly-controlled entities

· for investment property, measurement is driven by circumstances rather than allowing an accounting policy choice between the cost and fair value models

· various options for government grants.

10.5 Recognition and measurement simplifications

The main simplifications to the recognition and measurement principles in full IFRSs include:

· Financial instruments:

· Financial instruments meeting specified criteria are measured at cost or amortised cost. All others are measured at fair value through profit or loss. This avoids the inherent complexities of classifying financial instruments into four categories, such as assessing management's intentions and dealing with 'tainting provisions'.

· The IFRS establishes a simple principle for derecognition. The 'pass-through' and 'continuing involvement' tests in full IFRSs are dropped.

· Hedge accounting requirements, including the detailed calculations, are simplified and tailored for SMEs.

· Goodwill and other indefinite-life intangible assets - always amortised over their estimated useful lives (ten years if useful life cannot be estimated reliably).

· Investments in associates and joint ventures - can be measured at cost unless there is a published price quotation (when fair value must be used).

· Research and development costs - must be recognised as expenses.

· Borrowing costs - must be recognised as expenses.

· Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets - Residual value, useful life and depreciation method for items of property, plant and equipment, and amortisation period/method for intangible assets, need to be reviewed only if there is an indication they may have changed since the most recent annual reporting date (full IFRSs require an annual review).

· Defined benefit plans:

· All past service cost must be recognised immediately in profit or loss.

· All actuarial gains and losses must be recognised immediately either in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.

· An entity is required to use the projected unit credit method to measure its defined benefit obligation and the related expense only if it is possible to do so without undue cost or effort.

· Income tax - Requirements follow the approach set out in the Board's ED Income Tax, published in March 2009, which proposes a simplified replacement for IAS 12 Income Taxes.

· No separate held-for-sale classification - Instead, holding an asset (or group of assets) for sale is an impairment indicator.

· Biological assets - The fair value through profit or loss model is required for biological assets only when fair value is readily determinable without undue cost or effort. Otherwise, SMEs follow the cost-depreciation-impairment model.

· Equity-settled share-based payment - The directors' best estimate of the fair value of the equity-settled share-based payment is used to measure the expense if observable market prices are not available.

10.6 Main changes from the ED

The main changes that resulted from the Board's redeliberations of the recognition, measurement and presentation principles proposed in the ED include:

· Making the IFRS a stand-alone document  (eliminating all but one of the 23 cross-references to full IFRSs that had been proposed in the ED, with the one remaining cross-reference providing an option, but not a requirement, to follow IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement instead of the two financial instruments sections of the IFRS for SMEs).

· Eliminating most of the complex options and adding guidance on the remaining ones (thereby removing the cross-references to full IFRSs proposed in the ED).

· Omitting topics that typical SMEs are not likely to encounter (thereby removing the cross-references to full IFRSs proposed in the ED).

· Not anticipating possible future changes to IFRSs.

· Eliminating references to the pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies as a source of guidance when the IFRS for SMEs does not address an accounting issue directly.

· Restructuring of the single section on financial instruments in the ED into two sections (Section 11 Basic Financial Instruments and Section 12 Other Financial Instruments Issues) and clarifying that amortised cost is applied to nearly all the basic financial instruments held or issued by SMEs.

· Eliminating proportionate consolidation as an option for investments in jointly controlled entities.

· Removing the distinction between distributions from pre-acquisition and post-acquisition profits for investments accounted for by the cost method and, instead, recognising all dividends received in profit or loss.

· Eliminating the requirement of a maximum three-month difference between the reporting date of the associate or jointly controlled entity and that of the investor when applying the equity method.

· Requiring an entity to choose its accounting policy for investment property on the basis of circumstances, rather than as a free choice option. Investment property whose fair value can be measured reliably without undue cost or effort will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. All other investment property will be accounted for as property, plant and equipment using a cost-depreciation-impairment model.

· Not requiring an annual review of residual value, useful life and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

· Not permitting a revaluation option for property, plant and equipment. 

· Not permitting a revaluation option for intangibles. 

· Amortising all indefinite-life intangibles, including goodwill. 

· Recognising as expenses all research and development costs.

· Incorporating 'present value of minimum lease payments' into the measurement of a finance lease.

· Allowing other than the straight-line method by lessees for operating leases when the minimum lease payments are structured to compensate the lessor for expected general inflation.

· •
Incorporating into the IFRS for SMEs the February 2008 'puttables' amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.

· Requiring all government grants to be accounted for using a single, simplified model: recognition in income when the performance conditions are met (or earlier if there are no performance conditions) and measurement at the fair value of the asset received or receivable.

· Recognising as expenses all borrowing costs.

· Adding further simplifications for share-based payments, including directors' valuations, rather than the intrinsic value method.

· Allowing subsidiaries to measure employee benefit and share-based payment expense on the basis of a reasonable allocation of the group charge.

· Adding value-in-use measurement for asset impairments.

· Introducing the notion of cash-generating unit for testing asset impairments.

· Simplifying the guidance for calculating impairment of goodwill.

· Simplifying the measurement of a defined benefit pension obligation if a 'projected unit credit' measurement is not available and would require undue cost or effort.

· Permitting recognition of actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income as an alternative to recognition in profit or loss (while retaining the proposal in the exposure draft to prohibit deferral of actuarial gains and losses).

· Eliminating the held-for-sale asset classification and related special measurement requirements.

· Incorporating into Section 35 Transition to the IFRS for SMEs all the exemptions in IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards.

· Incorporating the conclusions of the following Interpretations, which address transactions and circumstances that SMEs often encounter:

· IFRIC 2 Members' Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments

· IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

· IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2

· IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

· IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

· IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

· IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

· SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities

11 Going concern – the accounting requirements

11.1 Companies Act

From CA 1985: Schedule 4 paragraph 10: 

“The company shall be presumed to be carrying on business as a going concern.”

Exactly the same wording is used for small companies in Schedule 8, paragraph 10. 

Turning to CA 2006, we have, in SI 2008 No 410 The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 in Schedule 1 at paragraph 11: 

“The company is presumed to be carrying on business as a going concern”

Exactly the same wording is used in the Regulations for small companies and groups.

The other Companies Act section which is relevant in the context of going concern disclosures is CA 2006 S 417(3) 

The business review must contain- 

(a) a fair review of the company's business, and 

(b) a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the company.

This section applies to directors’ reports for financial years beginning on or after 1 October 2007. However, for this purpose, the requirement of S 417 is identical to the equivalent section from CA 1985 that is S 234ZZB(1).

11.2 Accounting Standards

Paragraph 21 of FRS 18 states:

An entity should prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis, unless

(a) the entity is being liquidated or has ceased trading, or

(b) the directors either intend to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or have no realistic alternative but to do so,

in which circumstances the entity should prepare its financial statements on a basis other than that of a going concern.

FRS 18 does not contain a definition of going concern although some help with this point is provided by paragraph 3.6 of the Statement of Principles where we get this quote:

“There are a number of different perspectives from which an entity's financial performance and financial position could be viewed and the perspective adopted could have a significant effect on the assets and liabilities recognised and on their carrying amounts. In view of the objective of financial statements, the perspective that is usually most relevant is based on the assumption that the entity is to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. This perspective is commonly referred to as the going concern assumption.”

Notice that there is no reference in current UK accounting standards or statements to a need to “curtail significantly the scale of business operations” as was present in the old SSAP 2. However, the IASB Framework continues to include this phrase and so we would expect, in due course for the UK to fall in line.

Another interesting quote is from paragraph 6 of Appendix III to FRS 18:

“IAS 1 (revised 1997) requires financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis unless management either intends to liquidate the enterprise or to cease trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The FRS includes a requirement that is similar except that management intent is not sufficient to justify a departure from the going concern basis. Accordingly, the FRS requires an entity's financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis unless the entity is being liquidated or has ceased trading, or the directors have no realistic alternative but to liquidate the entity or to cease trading.” 

This is not consistent with paragraph 21 of the standard as quoted above. To explain this inconsistency, recall that when FRS 18 was first released, there was no reference to intention in paragraph 21. Under the original standard, the entity could only prepare financial statements on a basis other than going concern where the entity was being liquidated or had ceased trading, or the directors had no realistic alternative but to liquidate the entity or to cease trading.” There was no reference in the original standard to intention. The change was introduced by FRS 21 in 2005. Clearly, when FRS 18 was updated, nobody thought to amend Appendix III.

The impact of events after the balance sheets date on the use of the going concern presumption is discussed in paragraphs 14 and 15 of FRS 21:

An entity shall not prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis if management determines after the balance sheet date either that it intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or that it has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Deterioration in operating results and financial position after the balance sheet date may indicate a need to consider whether the going concern assumption is still appropriate. If the going concern assumption is no longer appropriate, the effect is so pervasive that this Standard requires a fundamental change in the basis of accounting, rather than an adjustment to the amounts recognised within the original basis of accounting.

Returning to FRS 18, the standard requires that the directors, when preparing financial statements, should assess whether there are significant doubts about an entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If the directors, when making this assessment, are aware of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, then paragraph 61 requires them to disclose those uncertainties. In making their assessment, the directors take into account all available information about the foreseeable future.

Paragraph 25 of FRS 18 explains that the degree of consideration necessary to make the above assessment depends on the facts in each case. When an entity has a history of profitable operations, which are expected to continue, and ready access to financial resources, detailed analysis may not be necessary. In other cases, the directors may, in making their assessment, need to consider a wide range of factors surrounding current and expected profitability, debt repayment schedules and potential sources of replacement financing. Such considerations also govern the length of time in respect of which the assessment should be made.

The disclosures required by paragraph 61 in relation to the going concern assessment are:

(a) any material uncertainties, of which the directors are aware in making their assessment, related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

(b) where the foreseeable future considered by the directors has been limited to a period of less than one year from the date of approval of the financial statements, that fact.

(c) when the financial statements are not prepared on a going concern basis, that fact, together with the basis on which the financial statements are prepared and the reason why the entity is not regarded as a going concern.

As always, the FRSSE expresses things more succinctly. Paragraph 2.12 of FRSSE 2008 states:

The company is presumed to be carrying on business as a going concern. When preparing financial statements, directors shall assess whether there are significant doubts about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. Any material uncertainties, of which the directors are aware in making their assessment, shall be disclosed. Where the period considered by the directors in making this assessment has been limited to a period of less than one year from the date of approval of the financial statements, that fact shall be stated. The financial statements shall not be prepared on a going concern basis if the directors determine after the balance sheet date either that they intend to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or that they have no realistic alternative but to do so.

11.3 Guidance from the Financial Reporting Council (FRC)

11.3.1 Introduction

To assist directors, the FRC has published guidance entitled "An update for directors of listed companies: going concern and liquidity risk" (Update for Directors). Its purpose is to bring together existing guidance in the context of recent developments relating to going concern and liquidity risk disclosures to assist directors, audit committees and finance teams of listed companies. It does not establish any new requirements but it does highlight the importance of clear disclosure about going concern and liquidity risk in current economic conditions. The FRC say that the update may also be useful for directors of unlisted companies who have similar responsibilities to assess going concern and make appropriate disclosures.

The notes that follow consist mainly of extracts from the Update for Directors. These extracts have been chosen because they are relevant for directors and accountants of unlisted companies. Those users of the notes who are involved with listed companies are advised to read the full document.

Going concern is a fundamental accounting concept that underlies the preparation of the annual report and accounts of all UK companies. Under both International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP) directors are required to satisfy themselves that it is reasonable for them to conclude that it is appropriate to prepare financial statements on a going concern basis. These requirements are not intended to, and do not, guarantee that a company will remain a going concern until the next annual report and accounts is issued. 

The economic conditions being faced by many companies will necessitate careful consideration by directors when assessing whether it is reasonable for them to use the going concern basis of accounting, and whether adequate disclosure has been given of going concern risks and other uncertainties. Addressing these challenges well before the preparation of annual reports and accounts may help avoid a last-minute problem that might unsettle investors and lenders unnecessarily.

Directors will need to plan their assessment of going concern as early as practicable including deciding on the information and analysis that will need to be produced (such as board papers) and the processes and procedures that will be undertaken. These plans should also address the evidence to be obtained to support their conclusion and develop, where necessary, any remedial action plan.

In 1994, the FRC issued guidance "Going concern and financial reporting: guidance for directors of listed companies registered in the United Kingdom". An exposure draft to update this guidance is expected early in 2009 but, in the meantime the FRC believes that the existing guidance contained in the 1994 Guidance is fit for purpose even in these times of significant economic stress. This guidance can be found on the FRC website at: 

www.frc.org.uk/corporate/goingconcern.cfm

The 1994 Guidance indicates that directors may seek confirmation from their bankers regarding the existence and status of their finance arrangements. In the present economic environment bankers may be reluctant to provide positive confirmation that facilities will continue to be available. This reluctance may extend to companies with a profitable business and relatively small borrowing requirements. The absence of confirmations of bank facilities does not of itself necessarily cast significant doubt upon the ability of an entity to continue as a going concern nor necessarily require auditors to refer to going concern in their reports.

The effect of current market conditions on individual entities requires careful evaluation. The general economic situation at the present time does not of itself necessarily mean that a material uncertainty exists about a company's ability to continue as a going concern. However, it is important that annual accounts contain appropriate disclosure of liquidity risk and uncertainties such as are necessary in order to give a true and fair view.

Examples illustrating how directors might explain their going concern conclusion taking account of current economic conditions which would facilitate an understanding by readers of annual reports and accounts are included in an appendix to the update and are shown later in these notes.

11.3.2 Procedures to be followed by directors

The procedures that are necessary for the directors to comply with the requirements of IAS 1 or FRS 18 are likely to be similar to those adopted to meet their obligations under the Listing Rules. The 1994 Guidance places particular emphasis on the importance of the processes and procedures that directors carry out and highlights some major areas in which procedures are likely to be appropriate, including:

· forecasts and budgets;

· borrowing requirements;

· liability management;

· contingent liabilities;

· products and markets;

· financial risk management;

· other factors; and

· financial adaptability.

The 1994 Guidance notes that this list is not exhaustive and the significance of factors will vary from company to company. In the current economic climate many of these factors will have increased in significance which will require directors to consider them with more rigour and formality.

Further guidance is provided in relation to bank and other facilities. The facilities available to the company should be reviewed and compared to the detailed cash flow forecasts for the period to the next balance sheet date, as a minimum. Sensitivity analyses on the critical assumptions should also be used in the comparison. The directors should seek to ensure that there are no anticipated: 

· shortfalls in facilities against requirements; 

· arrears of interest; or 

· breaches of covenants. 

The directors have responsibility to manage borrowing requirements actively. Any potential deficits, arrears or breaches should be discussed with the company's bankers in order to determine whether any action is appropriate. This may prevent potential problems crystallising. The onus is on the directors to be satisfied that there are likely to be appropriate and committed financing arrangements in place. 

11.3.3 Going concern disclosures

In forming their conclusion on going concern directors will need to evaluate which of three potential outcomes is appropriate to the specific circumstances of the group and company. The directors may conclude:

· there are no material uncertainties that lead to significant doubt upon the entity's ability to continue as a going concern;

· there are material uncertainties that lead to significant doubt upon the entity's ability to continue as a going concern; or

· the use of the going concern basis is not appropriate.

Directors will need to consider carefully the position in the light of the information available to them and the assumptions as to the future availability of finance. Their conclusion will generally result in one of the following three outcomes:

	Outcome
	Consequence for the directors' statement on going concern

	No material uncertainties leading to significant doubt about going concern have been identified by the directors.
	Disclosure explaining the conclusion on going concern and how that has been reached.

	
	Examples 1 and 2 below illustrate this outcome. 

	Material uncertainties leading to significant doubt about going concern have been identified by the directors.
	Disclosures explaining the specific nature of the material uncertainties and explaining why the going concern basis has still been adopted.

	
	Example 3 below illustrates this outcome. 

	The directors conclude that the going concern basis is not appropriate.
	Disclosures explaining the basis of the conclusion and the accounting policies applied in drawing up financial statements on a non-going concern basis.


The examples included in the FRC guidance bring together going concern and liquidity risk disclosures. As such, they are particularly relevant to companies required to follow FRS 29 (IFRS 7). For the purposes of these notes, I have extracted those elements of the examples relating just to going concern. These disclosures give an example of the disclosure that might be required in particular situations. In practice such disclosures should be specific to the individual circumstances of each company.

Example 1 - A group with significant positive bank balances, uncomplicated circumstances and little or no exposure to uncertainties in the current economic environment which may impact the going concern assumption. 

The group has considerable financial resources together with long-term contracts with a number of customers and suppliers across different geographic areas and industries. As a consequence, the directors believe that the group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully despite the current uncertain economic outlook.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company and the group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts.

Example 2 - A group with uncomplicated circumstances, some exposure to the current economic uncertainties and either a current material bank overdraft or loan and a need to renew this facility in the foreseeable future albeit not imminently. 

As highlighted in note B to the financial statements, the group meets its day to day working capital requirements through an overdraft facility which is due for renewal on [date]. The current economic conditions create uncertainty particularly over (a) the level of demand for the group's products; (b) the exchange rate between sterling and currency X and thus the consequence for the cost of the group's raw materials; and (c) the availability of bank finance in the foreseeable future.

The group's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the group should be able to operate within the level of its current facility. The group will open renewal negotiations with the bank in due course and has at this stage not sought any written commitment that the facility will be renewed. However, the group has held discussion with its bankers about its future borrowing needs and no matters have been drawn to its attention to suggest that renewal may not be forthcoming on acceptable terms.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company and the group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts.

Example 3 - A group with complicated circumstances, considerable exposure to the current economic uncertainties and either a current material bank overdraft or loan which requires renewal and perhaps an increase in the year ahead. 

As described in the directors' report on page X the current economic environment is challenging and the group has reported an operating loss for the year. The directors' consider that the outlook presents significant challenges in terms of sales volume and pricing as well as input costs. Whilst the directors have instituted measures to preserve cash and secure additional finance, these circumstances create material uncertainties over future trading results and cash flows.

As explained on page X, the directors are seeking to sell a property to provide additional working capital. The group is in negotiations with a potential purchaser but there can be no certainty that a sale will proceed. Based on negotiations conducted to date the directors have a reasonable expectation that it will proceed successfully, but if not the group will need to secure additional finance facilities.

As explained in the Business Review on Page Y, the group has commenced discussions with its bankers about an additional facility that may prove to be necessary should the sale of the property not proceed or should material adverse changes in sales volumes or margins occur. It is likely that these discussions will not be completed for some time. The directors are also pursuing alternative sources of funding in case an additional facility is not forthcoming, but have not yet secured a commitment.

The directors have concluded that the combination of these circumstances represent a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt upon the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Nevertheless after making enquiries, and considering the uncertainties described above, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the group and the company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For these reasons, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts.

11.4 Other matters arising from accounting standards

Accounting standards do not define what constitutes a 'material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the entity's ability to continue as a going concern'. This involves assessing both the probability of an event occurring and the impact it will have if it does occur. Assessment of these elements may require a high degree of judgment both by the directors, and subsequently by the auditors depending upon individual company and group circumstances.

Where the period considered by the directors has been limited, for example, to a period of less than twelve months from the date of the approval of the annual report and accounts, the directors need to consider whether additional disclosures are necessary to explain adequately the assumptions that underlie the adoption of the going concern basis.

Doubts upon the ability of a company to remain a going concern do not necessarily mean that the company is, or is likely to become, insolvent. The solvency of a company is determined by reference to a comparison of its assets and liabilities and by its ability to meet liabilities as they fall due. Where the directors are unable to state that the going concern basis is appropriate, they should consider taking professional advice.

FRS 29 requires an entity to make both qualitative and quantitative disclosures concerning liquidity risk, where it is a material financial risk. This part of the FRC document is not covered in these notes since most unlisted entities are not subject to the requirements of FRS 29. Interested readers should refer to the full document. The FRC has also published a study into going concern and liquidity risk disclosures in the financial statements of listed companies that have adopted IFRS 7. The study can be obtained from:  www.frc.org.uk/corporate/goingconcern.cfm. 

11.5 Business Review

Directors will need to explain in the Business Review the principal risks and uncertainties facing the company arising from the current difficult economic conditions. One of the purposes of the Business Review is to help the members assess how the directors have performed their duties so it is reasonable to expect that it will also contain an account of how the directors intend to respond to these risks and uncertainties. Issues which may require disclosure depend upon individual facts and circumstances and may include:

· uncertainties about current financing arrangements (whether committed or uncommitted);

· potential changes in financing arrangements such as critical covenants and any need to increase borrowing levels;

· risks arising from current credit arrangements (including the availability of insurance where relevant) with either customers or suppliers;

· a dependency on key suppliers and customers; and

· uncertainties posed by the potential impact of the economic outlook on business activities.

12 Bulletin 2008/10 – Going concern issues during the current economic conditions

12.1 Introduction

In January 2008 the Auditing Practices Board (APB) issued Bulletin 2008/1 to provide guidance on matters that auditors needed to consider when conducting audits in the economic environment that was, at that time, characterised as the 'credit crunch'.

Since then the economic environment has worsened and the UK and Irish economies are entering a period of recession. This economic environment leads to added uncertainty regarding:

(a) bank lending intentions and the availability of finance more generally;

(b) the impact of the recession on a company's own business; and

(c) the impact of the recession on counterparties, including customers and suppliers.

These conditions will create a number of challenges for the preparers of financial statements and their auditors.

The effect of the current market conditions on any particular entity requires careful evaluation. However, the general economic situation at the present time does not, of itself, necessarily mean that a material uncertainty exists about an entity's ability to continue as a going concern or justify auditors modifying their auditor's reports to draw attention to going concern. The auditor makes a judgment on the need, or otherwise, to draw attention to going concern on the basis of the facts and circumstances of the entity at the time of signing the auditor's report. Bulletin 2008/10 gives guidance on relevant factors to be considered and highlights certain requirements and guidance in the ISAs (UK and Ireland).

The Bulletin supplements Bulletin 2008/1 and in particular:

(a) updates the listing of risk factors included in that Bulletin. These notes include the appendix listing events or conditions that may affect going concern. However, appendix 3 from the bulletin which deals with risk factors arising from current economic conditions other than going concern has not been reproduced; and

(b) provides guidance on a number of going concern issues that auditors are likely to encounter during the forthcoming reporting cycle.

The guidance draws on ISA (UK and Ireland) 570 Going concern and does not establish any new requirements.

The APB believes that the FRC's publication of the Update for Directors will assist auditors as it emphasises the need for directors to apply an appropriate degree of rigour and formality when making their judgments and suggests that directors will need to plan their assessment of going concern as early as practicable, including deciding on the information that will need to be produced (such as board papers) and the processes and procedures that will be undertaken. Notwithstanding early discussions between the company and its auditors both directors and auditors need to take account of subsequent developments as final assessments of going concern need to be made at the date that the directors approve the annual report and accounts taking into account the relevant facts and circumstances at that date.

12.2 Planning

Risks arising from current economic circumstances are likely to impact a number of different aspects of the financial statements, for example the economic conditions may impact matters such as inventory obsolescence, goodwill impairments and cash flows, which may in turn affect whether the company is a going concern. It is important that auditor judgments on such matters are based on consistent underlying information and views.

Because of the significance and pervasive nature of the current economic circumstances auditors need to take account of them at all stages of forthcoming audits and in particular when:

(a) making risk assessments during the planning process and re-assessing those risks as the audit progresses;

(b) performing audit procedures to respond to assessed risks;

(c) evaluating the results of audit procedures (including as part of any engagement quality control review); and

(d) forming an opinion on the financial statements.

12.3 Considering The Directors' Assessment Of Going Concern 

ISA (UK and Ireland) 570 requires the auditor to consider the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements, and consider whether there are material uncertainties about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern that need to be disclosed in the financial statements. In order to meet this requirement the auditor's procedures will comprise the five elements shown below.

12.3.1 Evaluating how the directors have satisfied themselves that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis

Audit procedures that are likely to be relevant when evaluating the adequacy of the means by which the directors have satisfied themselves whether it is appropriate for them to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements include:

· Analysing and discussing cash flow, profit and other relevant forecasts with management.

· Reviewing the terms of loan agreements and determining whether any may have been breached.

· Reading minutes of the meetings of shareholders, those charged with governance and relevant committees for references to financing difficulties.

· Reviewing events after period end to identify those that may mitigate or otherwise affect the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

If required, additional procedures are described in paragraph 28 of ISA (UK and Ireland) 570.

When analysis of cash flow is a significant factor in considering the future outcome of future events or conditions the auditor considers the reliability of the entity's information system for generating such information and whether there is adequate support for the assumptions underlying the forecast.

ISA (UK and Ireland) 570 Paragraph 26 requires that when events or conditions have been identified which may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the auditor should:

(a) review the directors' plans for future action based on their going concern assessment;

(b) gather sufficient appropriate audit evidence to confirm or dispel whether or not a material uncertainty exists through carrying out audit procedures considered necessary, including considering the effect of any plans of the directors and other mitigating factors; and 

(c) seek written representations from the directors regarding their plans for future action.

In general terms, the greater the risks arising from current economic circumstances the more audit evidence will be required.

12.3.2 Concluding whether or not to concur with the directors' view

Assessing the going concern assumption involves making a judgment, at a particular point in time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. Generally, the degree of uncertainty associated with the outcome of an event or condition increases the further into the future a judgment is being made about the outcome. Any judgment about the future is based on available evidence and reasonable assumptions about the outcome of the future events made at the time at which the judgment is made.

The basis for the auditor's conclusion is the information upon which the directors have based their assessment and their reasoning, including, where applicable, advice obtained from external advisers including lawyers. In evaluating the assessment of the directors, the auditor considers the process they followed to make their assessment, the assumptions on which the assessment is based and their plans for future action. The auditor considers whether the assessment has taken into account all relevant information of which the auditor is aware as a result of the audit.

Where there are events or conditions that cast significant doubt on the ability of the entity to continue as a going concern, the auditor assesses the directors' plans for future action, including plans to liquidate assets, borrow money or restructure debt, reduce or delay expenditures, or increase capital.

12.3.3 Adequacy of disclosures

Developments in accounting standards, including those relating to liquidity risk, together with the current economic conditions can be expected to give rise to a greater number of company annual reports and accounts containing liquidity and going-concern related disclosures.

The Update for Directors emphasises the importance, in the current economic conditions, of appropriate disclosures regarding liquidity risk and uncertainties. In its Appendix, it provides three illustrative examples of how directors might explain their going concern conclusion in a manner that would facilitate an understanding by readers of annual reports and accounts. These examples were included earlier in these notes

An essential quality of the information provided in financial statements is that it is readily understandable by users. In reviewing the presentation of the disclosures the auditor considers whether the notes to the financial statements taken together with the primary financial statements present a true and fair view. The understandability of the disclosures is an important factor in determining whether the financial statements give a true and fair view.

12.3.4 Determining the implications for the auditor's report

ISAs (UK and Ireland) provide for a number of different auditor reports depending upon the specific facts and circumstances. For example, if auditors conclude that the disclosures regarding going concern are not adequate to meet the requirements of accounting standards, including the need for financial statements to give a true and fair view, they are required either to express a qualified or adverse opinion, as appropriate. The report is also required to include specific reference to the fact that there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

If the auditor concludes that a material uncertainty exists that leads to significant doubt about the ability of the entity to continue as a going concern, and those uncertainties have been adequately disclosed in the financial statements, it is required to modify its report by including an emphasis of matter paragraph.

Referring again to the FRC’s examples of disclosure, the table provided by the FRC goes on to consider the appropriate form of the auditor’s report in each of the situations presented.

	Outcome
	Consequence for the directors' statement on going concern
	Consequence for the auditors' report

	No material uncertainties leading to significant doubt about going concern have been identified by the directors.
	Disclosure explaining the conclusion on going concern and how that has been reached.
	Unmodified report (clean) - provided the auditors concur with the directors' assessment and supporting disclosures.

	
	Examples 1 and 2 in the notes illustrated this outcome. 
	

	Material uncertainties leading to significant doubt about going concern have been identified by the directors.
	Disclosures explaining the specific nature of the material uncertainties and explaining why the going concern basis has still been adopted.
	Modified report including an emphasis of matter paragraph highlighting the existence of material uncertainties - provided auditors concur with the directors' assessment and supporting disclosures.

	
	Example 3 in the notes  illustrated this outcome. 
	

	The directors conclude that the going concern basis is not appropriate.
	Disclosures explaining the basis of the conclusion and the accounting policies applied in drawing up financial statements on a non-going concern basis.
	Unmodified report (clean) - provided that the accounts contain the necessary disclosures and the auditors consider the basis to be appropriate to the specific facts and circumstances


Examples of other conclusions that may be drawn by the auditor are illustrated in Appendix 3 to Bulletin 2006/6.

As a footnote, the bulletin deals with the inconsistency in terminology between ISA (UK and Ireland) 700 and ISA (UK and Ireland) 570 by saying that the term "material uncertainty relating to the event or condition that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern". Which is used in ISA (UK and Ireland) 570 is equivalent to the term "material matter regarding a going concern problem" used in ISA (UK and Ireland) 700.

The current economic circumstances are likely to increase the level of uncertainty existing when the directors make their judgment about the outcome of future events or conditions. However, whilst the effect of current market conditions on individual entities requires careful evaluation, it should not be assumed that the general economic situation at the present time in itself means that a material uncertainty, which casts significant doubt on the ability of the entity to continue as a going concern, exists. Nor are extensive disclosures necessarily indicative of the existence of a significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. Indeed an objective of the disclosures may be to explain why the going concern issues that affect the company do not give rise to a significant doubt.

What constitutes a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern is a judgment involving not only the nature and materiality of the events or conditions giving rise to uncertainty; but also the ability of the entity to adopt strategies that mitigate the uncertainty.

Nature and materiality of the events or conditions 

Accounting standards do not define what constitutes a "material uncertainty". However, determining whether a "material uncertainty" exists involves assessing:

(a) the likelihood of events or conditions occurring; and

(b) their impact.

Assessment of these elements may require a high degree of judgment both by the directors and subsequently by the auditors depending upon the individual circumstances of the company and/or group.

Examples of possible events or conditions which may give rise to business risks, that individually or collectively may cast significant doubt about the going concern assumption are set out in ISA (UK and Ireland) 570 paragraph 8, these include:

· A net liability or current liability position.

· Negative operating cash flows.

· Fixed-term borrowings approaching maturity without realistic prospects of renewal or repayment, or excessive reliance on short-term borrowings to finance long-term assets.

· Major debt repayment falling due where refinancing is necessary to the entity's continued existence.

· Inability to comply with the terms of loan agreements or to pay creditors on due dates.

· Loss of a major market, franchise, license or principal supplier. 

A list of other possible events and conditions that may affect the auditor's assessment of going concern are set out in the Appendix below.

Paragraph 8 also notes that the existence of one or more of the factors does not always signify that a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern exists.

A factor listed in ISA (UK and Ireland) 570 is that necessary borrowing facilities have not been agreed. In examining borrowing facilities the auditor could decide, for example, that it is necessary:

(a) to obtain confirmations of the existence and terms of bank facilities; and

(b) to make its own assessment of the intentions of the bankers relating thereto. This latter assessment could involve the auditor examining written evidence or making notes of meetings which it would hold with the directors and, where appropriate, with the directors and the entity's bankers.

As discussed earlier, in the present economic environment bankers may be reluctant to confirm to entities or their auditors that facilities will be renewed. This reluctance may extend to companies with a profitable business and relatively small borrowing requirements. The lack of a positive confirmation from a bank does not of itself provide evidence of a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. Auditors seek to differentiate between circumstances where the lack of a confirmation reflects the existence of a material matter regarding going concern (which, therefore, falls to be emphasised in the auditor's report) and increased caution on the part of bankers that is not indicative of a material matter regarding going concern (and which, therefore, do not fall to be emphasised in the auditor's report).

There may be a number of reasons why a bank may be reluctant to confirm that a facility will be available in the future, which would not be a material matter regarding going concern, including:

· The bank responding that in the current economic environment, as a matter of policy, it is not providing such confirmations to its customers or their auditors.

· The entity and its bankers are engaged in negotiations about the terms of a facility (e.g. the interest rate), and where there is no evidence that the bank is reluctant to lend to the company.

· The bank renewed a rolling facility immediately prior to the date of the issuance of the annual report and accounts and is reluctant to go through the administrative burden to confirm that the facility will be renewed on expiry.

However, if the auditor concludes that an entity's bankers may be refusing to confirm facilities for reasons that are specific to the entity the auditor considers the significance of this and, where appropriate, discusses with the directors whether there are alternative strategies or sources of financing that would enable the financial statements to be prepared on the going concern basis.

Ability to adopt alternative strategies that mitigate an uncertainty 

The adverse factors described above may be mitigated by other favourable factors. For example, the effect of an entity being unable to make its debt repayments from operating cash flows may be counterbalanced by management's plans to maintain adequate cash flows by alternative means, such as by disposal of assets, rescheduling of loan repayments, or obtaining additional capital. Similarly the loss of a principal supplier may be mitigated by the availability of another suitable source of supply. Where an entity contends that it has alternative strategies to overcome any adverse factors the auditor assesses the effectiveness of such strategies and the ability of management to execute them.

If the auditor, in assessing the alternative strategies, considers that they are realistic, have a reasonable expectation of resolving any problems foreseen and that the directors are likely to put the strategies into place effectively, the auditor may decide that it is unnecessary to include an emphasis of matter paragraph in the auditor's report.

12.3.5 Documentation

ISA (UK and Ireland) 230 (Revised) Audit Documentation requires the auditor to prepare audit documentation so as to enable an experienced auditor, having no previous connection with the audit, to understand significant matters arising during the audit and the conclusions reached thereon. Significant matters include, amongst other things, findings that could result in a modification to the auditor's report. With respect to going concern, it is important, therefore, that the auditor documents its knowledge of conditions and events at the date of the auditor's report, and its reasoning with respect to the conclusions it has drawn.

12.4 Ethical Issues

The APB's Ethical Standards (ESs) are based on a "threats and safeguards approach" whereby auditors identify and assess the circumstances which could adversely affect the auditor's objectivity ("threats"), including any perceived loss of independence, and apply procedures ("safeguards"), which will either eliminate the threat or reduce it to an acceptable level, that is a level at which it is not probable that a reasonable and informed third party would conclude that the auditor's objectivity is impaired or is likely to be impaired.

In the current circumstances, where financial market conditions are difficult and credit facilities may be restricted, auditors need to be particularly alert to the possibility of self-review, management or advocacy threats arising from the provision of non-audit services in relation to a refinancing or restructuring that might jeopardise their objectivity and independence.

Examples of engagements that the audit firm may be requested to undertake in the current economic environment and which may give rise to threats to the auditor's independence and objectivity include:

· Undertaking a review of the business with a view to advising the audited entity on restructuring options.

· Advising on forecasts or projections, for presentation to lenders and other stakeholders, including assumptions.

· Advising the audited entity on how to fund its financing requirements, including debt restructuring programmes.

When such work is undertaken a threat arises from the risk that the audit team may not review objectively the work undertaken in relation to going concern for audit purposes. Accordingly, where audit firms (and, in particular, members of the audit team) do undertake such engagements, consideration should be given to safeguards such as:

· A review of the going concern assessment and the conclusion reached by a partner or other senior staff member with appropriate expertise who is not a member of the audit team.

· Additional procedures undertaken as part of an Engagement Quality Control Review.

ES 5 (Revised) states that it is unlikely that safeguards can eliminate a threat or reduce it to an acceptable level:

(a) in the absence of 'informed management' (paragraph 27 of ES 5 (Revised)) and

(b) when the non-audit service would require the auditors to act as advocates for the entity in relation to matters that are material to the Financial Statements (paragraph 30 of ES 5 (Revised)).

Consequently, where an audit firm is engaged to provide advice to assist an entity it audits to demonstrate that it is a going concern, the audit firm ensures that the entity has "informed management" capable of taking responsibility for the decisions to be made, thereby reducing the risk that the audit firm may be regarded as taking management decisions for the entity concerned. If the audit firm attends meetings with the entity's bank or other interested parties it takes particular care to avoid assuming responsibility for the entity's proposals or being regarded as negotiating on behalf of the entity or advocating the appropriateness of the proposals such that its independence is compromised.

12.5 Appendix: Events or Conditions That May Affect Going Concern 

Possible events and conditions that may affect the auditor's assessment of going concern are listed below:

Obtaining external finance:

· Entity has experienced difficulties in the past in obtaining external finance facilities and/or complying with the related terms and covenants.

· Borrowing agreements or executory contracts include clauses relating to debt covenants or subjective clauses (e.g. a "material adverse change clause") that trigger repayment.

· Entity has breached some of the terms or covenants giving rise to the risk that the facilities may be withdrawn or not renewed.

· Finance facilities are due for renewal in the next year. - Management have no plans for alternative arrangements should current facilities not be extended.

· Finance facility is secured on assets (e.g. properties) that have decreased in value below the amount of the facility.

· There are significant doubts about the financial strength of the entity's bankers.

· Financing is provided by a syndicate of banks and other financial institutions and there are concerns about the viability of one or more of the members of the syndicate.

Management plans to overcome financing difficulties include disposal of assets or possible rights issues: - 

•
Plans developed prior to current market conditions have not been updated or stress tested.

•
Lack of evidence that management can realise the assets at the values arising from planned disposals or obtain the support of shareholders in relation to a rights issue.

Entity provides significant loans or guarantees: - 

•
Guarantees that may be called in.

•
Borrowers who may be unable to make payments.

Entity dependent on guarantees provided by another party: - 

· Guarantor no longer able/prepared to provide the guarantee.

Future cash flows: - 

· Reduction in cash flows resulting from unfavourable economic conditions.  Customers taking longer/unable to pay.

· Terms or covenants of renewed financing are changed and become more difficult to comply with (e.g. increased interest rates or charges).

· Entity is subject to margin calls as a result of a decrease in fair market value of financial instruments that it holds.

· Entities have issued loans (or received borrowings) having an introductory period during which favourable terms are in force which revert to normal market rates in the forthcoming year.

Entity heavily dependent on counterparties such as suppliers and customers:

· Suppliers facing financial difficulties provide essential goods/services. Entity unable to find alternative suppliers.

13 GUIDANCE FROM THE FRC: AN UPDATE FOR COMPANIES THAT ADOPT THE FRSSE

13.1 Introduction

The FRC are not expecting an increase in smaller companies preparing accounts other than on a going concern basis. They do however expect that many accounts may benefit from a short note explaining how credit market and other economic difficulties have an impact, if any, on the company’s particular circumstances.

The guidance refers to the requirements for smaller companies which are contained in Companies Act 2006 and the FRSSE. 

SI 2008 No 409 The Small Companies and Groups (Accounts and Directors’ Reports) Regulations 2008 states in Schedule 1 at paragraph 11: 

“The company is presumed to be carrying on business as a going concern”

Paragraph 2.12 of FRSSE 2008 states:

The company is presumed to be carrying on business as a going concern. When preparing financial statements, directors shall assess whether there are significant doubts about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. Any material uncertainties, of which the directors are aware in making their assessment, shall be disclosed. Where the period considered by the directors in making this assessment has been limited to a period of less than one year from the date of approval of the financial statements, that fact shall be stated. The financial statements shall not be prepared on a going concern basis if the directors determine after the balance sheet date either that they intend to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or that they have no realistic alternative but to do so.

13.2 Procedures for assessing going concern

The guidance goes on to talk about the procedures which directors may undertake. 

The extent of the procedures undertaken by directors should depend on the individual company's specific facts and circumstances. For example, directors of a company with significant borrowings and uncertainties about future sales will need to conduct significantly more analysis than for a company with substantial cash balances and a committed order book.

1.
Directors should prepare a budget, trading estimate, cash flow forecast or a similar analysis covering the period up to twelve months from the date of approval of their annual accounts, or for a longer period.

2.
If directors decide to prepare a budget, trading estimate or cash flow forecast they may:

a.
analyse income, costs or cash flows by month or by quarter. This may depend on the cyclical nature or otherwise of the business;

b.
identify the most significant assumptions that underlie their forecast and prepare a short note on those assumptions;

c.
identify reasonably possible adverse changes to income, costs or cash flows; and

d.
consider whether there is a need to take action, for example by negotiating better terms with creditors, including HMRC.

3.
Directors may summarise the key conditions contained in any existing bank facilities or credit arrangements made available by suppliers and consider the impact of reasonably possible adverse changes in these terms and conditions.

4.
Directors may discuss with their bankers and other lenders whether it is reasonable to assume that loans and/or overdrafts will continue to be available. The absence of confirmations, particularly in the current environment where banks are having to deal with a significant increase in workload, does not of itself necessarily cast significant doubt upon the ability of a company to continue as a going concern.

5.
Directors then assess all of the information that they have obtained and make and document their decision on whether to use the going concern basis of accounting for preparing their annual accounts.

6.
Directors then assess the need for disclosures about uncertainties in their annual accounts if they represent material uncertainties about the ability of the company to continue as a going concern. The FRC point out that the going concern basis of accounting is fundamental to a company’s balance sheet. If directors have included a specific disclosure about going concern in their annual accounts then that note should also be included in any abbreviated accounts filed at Companies House.

13.3 Practical examples

The most interesting part of this new guidance is the section covering practical examples. According to the FRC, the following two examples illustrate the nature of disclosures that could be appropriate to a smaller company. However, such disclosures should always be tailored to the specific facts and circumstances of each company.

"There has been a significant reduction in requests for estimates for new decorating work and the directors expect sales to reduce significantly next year. However, costs are expected to reduce accordingly and the company should be able to operate within its overdraft. The directors are not aware of any reason why the overdraft facility should not be extended. As a result they have adopted the going concern basis of accounting."

"The company has a contract for all of its available consulting capacity for the next six months and negotiations are at an advanced stage for a three month extension. The director believes that the company will be able to maintain positive cash flows for the foreseeable future. As a result the going concern basis of accounting has been adopted.

The full document for users of FRSSE may be found at:

www.frc.org.uk/press/pub1881.html

14 FRS 11: IMPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS AND GOODWILL

14.1 Introduction: Reminder of requirements

FRS 11 paragraph 8 states that a review for impairment of a fixed asset or goodwill should be carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the fixed asset or goodwill may not be recoverable.

Paragraph 10 gives examples of events and changes in circumstances that indicate an impairment may have occurred and these include: 

· a current period operating loss in the business in which the fixed asset or goodwill is involved or net cash outflow from the operating activities of that business, combined with either past operating losses or net cash outflows from such operating activities or an expectation of continuing operating losses or net cash outflows from such operating activities 

· a significant decline in a fixed asset’s market value during the period 

· evidence of obsolescence or physical damage to the fixed asset 

· a significant adverse change in: 

· the business or the market in which the fixed asset or goodwill is involved, such as the entrance of a major competitor 

· the statutory or other regulatory environment in which the business operates 

· any ‘indicator of value’ (for example turnover) used to measure the fair value of a fixed asset on acquisition 

· a commitment by management to undertake a significant reorganisation 

· a major loss of key employees 

· a significant increase in market interest rates or other market rates of return that are likely to affect materially the fixed asset’s recoverable amount.

In the current economic environment, it is likely that a number of clients will face circumstances which indicate that impairment may have taken place. In that case they need to perform an impairment review.

An impairment review should comprise a comparison of the carrying amount of the fixed asset or goodwill with its recoverable amount (the higher of net realisable value and value in use).

The value in use of a fixed asset is the present value of the future cash flows obtainable as a result of the asset’s continued use, including those resulting from its ultimate disposal. In practice, it is not normally possible to estimate the value in use of an individual fixed asset: it is the utilisation of groups of assets and liabilities, together with their associated goodwill, that generates cash flows. Hence value in use will usually have to be estimated in total for groups of assets and liabilities. These groups are referred to as income-generating units (see below). 

The expected future cash flows of the income-generating unit, including any allocation of central overheads but excluding cash flows relating to financing and tax, should be based on reasonable and supportable assumptions. The cash flows should be consistent with the most up-to-date budgets and plans that have been formally approved by management. Cash flows for the period beyond that covered by formal budgets and plans should assume a steady or declining growth rate. 

14.2 Income generating units

Income-generating units should be identified by dividing the total income of the entity into as many largely independent income streams as is reasonably practicable. Subject to the comments below concerning central assets, each of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the entity, excluding deferred tax balances, interest-bearing debt, dividends payable and other items relating wholly to financing, should be attributed to (or apportioned between) one (or more) income-generating unit(s).

To perform impairment reviews as accurately as possible:

· the groups of assets and liabilities that are considered together should be as small as is reasonably practicable, but

· the income stream underlying the future cash flows of one group should be largely independent of other income streams of the entity and should be capable of being monitored separately.

Income-generating units are therefore identified by dividing the total income of the business into as many largely independent income streams as is reasonably practicable in the light of the information available to management.

In general terms, the income streams identified are likely to follow the way in which management monitors and makes decisions about continuing or closing the different lines of business of the entity. Unique intangible assets, such as brands and mastheads, are generally seen to generate income independently of each other and are usually monitored separately. Hence they can often be used to identify income-generating units. Other income streams may be identified by reference to major products or services.

14.3 Income generating units in the small business

In the small business, it may be the case that there is only one income stream and therefore all of the assets of the business contribute to that income stream.

14.3.1 Example 5: A simple impairment review

This example has been written for the purpose of these notes – it is not taken from FRS 11.

The accounts for Year 0 for X Ltd show a loss before tax of £100,000.

This is after charging depreciation of £120,000 and interest of £40,000.

The balance sheet shows net assets of £200,000.

In arriving at the figure for net assets, liabilities included loans and overdrafts amounting to £300,000 and deferred tax liabilities of £20,000. 

The directors expect performance for Year 1 to be in line with Year 0. Thereafter, they predict annual growth of 5%.

Are the assets impaired?

Answer

Operating cash flow for Year 0 is £60,000 (-£100,000 + £120,000 + £40,000).

The directors are therefore projecting cash flow in year 1 of £60,000 with growth of 5% thereafter.

The present value of future cash flows can be calculated by the following formula:

Present value at year 0 = year 1 cash flow/(discount rate - growth rate) 

If we assume a discount rate of 10% and growth rate of 5% this would give an NPV of £1.2million (£60,000/(0.1- 0.05)).

If you are uncertain as to what discount rate to use, consider the sensitivity of this calculation to the discount rate. For example, a discount rate of 15% would give rise to an NPV of £600,000.

The book value of the net assets of the company for the purposes of the impairment test is £520,000 (£200,000 + £300,000 + £20,000).

Therefore the assets are not impaired – even at a 15% discount rate.

Comments on the above:

The above example has been designed to show that an impairment test does not necessarily require complicated analysis. It also shows that a company may have suffered a significant loss for the year but this does not necessarily translate into a need for an impairment write-down of the assets.

However, there are a number of possible objections to the answer provide above. For example:

· Are the estimates of future cash flows reliable? In particular, will the company be able to stabilise performance so as to achieve the same level of operating cash flow in Year 1 as earned in year 0?

· Is it acceptable to assume growth of 5% when FRS 11 limits the growth rate to the long-term average growth rate of the country (or countries) in which the business operates? A footnote to the standard indicates that the appropriate figure for the UK is 2.25% - but remember that this is in real terms (ie excluding inflation) whereas the cash flows predicted for the business should include inflation.

· The cash flows assumed in the answer do not include any allowance for the replacement of fixed assets as they wear out. Presumably, this would mean either that it is necessary to include the purchase of fixed assets in the cash flow or to cut the period of the projections short so that the timescale considered matches the remaining useful life of the assets.

14.4 Impairment reviews and property

14.4.1 Example 6: Investment property

My client holds a number of investment properties (as defined by SSAP 19). There is clear evidence of significant adverse change in the property market. Do the directors need to perform an impairment review of those properties?

Investment properties are outside the scope of FRS 11. In accordance with paragraph 11 of SSAP 19, the directors should continue to include investment properties in the balance sheet at their open market value.

14.4.2 Example 7: Trading stock

My client is a property developer and holds land and trading properties in stock. There is clear evidence of significant adverse change in the property market. Do the directors need to perform an impairment review to consider whether the land and properties need to be written down?

FRS 11 is titled “Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill”. It does not apply to stock which is included in the accounts at the lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with SSAP 9.

Paragraph 5 of SSAP 9 indicates that net realisable value is the estimated proceeds from the sale of items of stock less all further costs to completion and less all costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distributing directly related to the items in question. 

The above paragraph means that net realisable value should not be determined based on an emergency sale of the trading stock at the balance sheet date. Rather, the application of the going concern basis of accounting means that the directors should consider the revenue from the eventual sale of the properties (possibly a long time in the future) less the costs involved in developing and selling them. In many cases, this will mean that the net realisable value of land/property held in stock by a property developer will exceed cost. 

15 Bulletin 2008/8

Until we have revised versions of both ISA 700 and Bulletin 2006/6, the accounts and audit reports of companies with short accounting periods that commence on or after 6 April 2008 but end before 5 April 2009 are nevertheless required to comply with the Companies Act 2006.

APB Bulletin 2008/8 has been issued to provide illustrative auditor’s reports for use in the UK relating to those short periods of account. An example of such a report for a non-listed parent company preparing its accounts under UK GAAP is given below. The old wording has been struck through, and the new wording is in bold in order to highlight the differences between the two reports.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF XYZ LIMITED

We have audited the group and parent company financial statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) of (name of entity) for the year period ended ... which comprise [state the primary financial statements such as the Group Profit and Loss Account, the Group and Company Balance Sheets, the Group Cash Flow Statement, the Group Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses] and the related notes 1. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and for being satisfied that the financial statements give a true and fair view are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and are properly have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 2006, and give a true and fair view. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper adequate accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. This other information comprises only [the Directors’ Report, the Chairman’s Statement and the Operating and Financial Review] 2. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion:

· the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the group’s and the parent company’s affairs as at ....... and of the group’s profit[loss] for the year then ended;

· the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;

· the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 2006; and

· the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent company’s affairs as at ....... and of the group’s profit for the period then ended; and

· the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

Registered auditors 

Address

Date

[Signature]

John Smith (Senior Statutory Auditor)

Address

Date

for and on behalf of ABC LLP, Statutory Auditor

Notes

1  Auditor’s reports of entities that do not publish their financial statements on a web site or publish them using ‘PDF’ format may continue to refer to the financial statements by reference to page numbers.

2  The other information that is ‘read’ is the content of the printed Annual Report other than the financial statements. The description of the information that has been read is tailored to reflect the terms used in the Annual Report.

16 Bulletin 2008/9

The Auditing Practices Board (APB) issued Bulletin 2008/9 'Miscellaneous Reports by Auditors Required by the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006' at the end of October. 

The purpose of the Bulletin is to provide guidance with respect to those reports and statements required to be made by a statutory auditor (or a person who is eligible to be appointed as statutory auditor) under the Companies Act 2006 that are not dealt with in other Bulletins published by the APB. 

The Bulletin addresses the following reports:

•
Statement by an auditor on ceasing to hold office (that is the statement under Section 519 of CA 2006, not the notification to the appropriate audit authority). 

•
Statement on a company’s ability to make a distribution where the auditor’s report was qualified. 

•
Auditor’s statement with respect to net assets when a private company re-registers as a public company. 

•
Report when a private company redeems or purchases its own shares out of capital. 

•
Report when a public company allots shares otherwise than for cash. 

•
Report when non-cash assets transferred to a public company by certain of its members. 

17 REVISION TO ISA (UK AND IRELAND) 700: THE AUDITOR'S REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Auditing Practices Board (APB) has published a revision to ISA 700. This follows the ED published last year and previously the Discussion Paper entitled “The Auditor’s Report: A time for change?”. The changes are wide ranging and have been referred to as an evolution of the audit report. This was in response to the views of institutional investors, preparer organisations, public sector bodies and some auditing firms and individuals who preferred a more concise (shorter) auditor’s report. 

The ISA includes some illustrative examples of auditor’s report for UK companies. More examples are contained in Bulletin 2009/2 which is dealt with later in these notes. 

17.1 Features

The principal features of the new form of report when compared with auditors’ reports being issued under CA 85, are that the new report: 

· Separates the opinion on the financial statements from opinions on other matters required by legislation, and from matters which are reported by exception. This results in three distinct sections to the part of the audit report dealing with opinions.

· Emphasises the primacy of the true and fair requirement, as the overarching concept in reporting on financial statements.

· Makes a significant change to what was previously described as the ‘‘basis of opinion’’. ISA (UK and Ireland) 700 (Revised) changes the heading of this section to ‘‘Scope of the audit’’ and allows three approaches. In the case of UK companies, the report can:

· cross refer to a ‘‘Statement of the Scope of an Audit’’ that is maintained on APB’s web site; or

· cross refer to a ‘‘Statement of the Scope of an Audit’’ that is included elsewhere within the Annual Report; or

· include a prescribed description of the scope of an audit. Where auditors decide to include a description of the scope of the audit within the auditor’s report, APB believes the description should be as short as possible and use the prescribed words (see below).

· States the auditor’s responsibility to comply with APB’s Ethical Standards.

17.2 Application

Application will be in two stages:

1.
Companies will use the new format for financial years ending on or after 5 April 2009;

2.
Other entities will use the new format for financial years ending on or after 15 December 2010.

The reason for this is the delay in providing information on the APB website. As indicated above, the scope of the audit section (the old basis of audit opinion section) may include a reference to information on the APB website. Initially the information available on the website will only refer to companies and not other entities.

The position with regard to LLPs is unclear. They are required to comply with the new provisions of the Companies Act for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 October 2008.

17.3 New example audit report for UK non-publicly traded company

This report is to be used for the audits of accounting periods commencing on or after 6 April 2008 and ending on or after 5 April 2009.

Assumptions:

· Group and parent company financial statements not presented separately

· Company prepares group financial statements

· Company is not a quoted company

· UK GAAP used for group and parent company financial statements

· Section 408 exemption taken for parent company's own profit and loss account

· The scope of the audit is described on the APB website or elsewhere in the annual report (see notes 4 and 5 below)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF XYZ LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of XYZ Limited for the year ended ... which comprise [specify the financial statements, such as the Group Profit and Loss Account, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group Cash Flow Statement, the Group Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses,] and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement [set out [on pages...]], the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is [provided on the APB's web- site at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/UKNP] / [set out [on page x] of the Annual Report]. 

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

•
give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and the parent company's affairs as at ... and of the group's profit [loss] for the year then ended;

•
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•
adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•
the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

[Signature] 








Address

John Smith (Senior statutory auditor) 




Date

for and on behalf of ABC LLP, Statutory Auditor

Notes: 

1.
It is acceptable to use page numbers rather than referring to the various parts of the financial statements.

2.
The new form of the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement is included in Bulletin 2009/02.

3.
The APB never include a Bannerman style disclaimer but the ICAEW still recommend this.

4.
The wording for the statement of the scope of an audit and the auditor’s reporting responsibilities, which is published on the ASB’s website and cross-referred to in the audit report as shown above, is not reproduced here. Suffice it to say that the wording is much more detailed than the wording in the existing audit report. 

5.
As an alternative to the above paragraph “Scope of the audit”, the following paragraph may be used:

Scope of the audit

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group's and the parent company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.

For more details, see http://www.frc.org.uk/apb/press/pub1903.html

17.4 Modified reports

There are no examples of modified reports in ISA 700; these are to be found in Bulletin 2009/2.

17.5 Short periods

For periods commencing on or after 6 April 2008 which end before 5 April 2009, the appropriate form of the audit report is to be found in Bulletin 2008/08.

18 BULLETIN 2009/2: AUDITOR’S REPORTS ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN THE UNITED KINGDOM

The purpose of this Bulletin is to provide illustrative examples of both unmodified and modified auditor’s reports on financial statements of companies incorporated in the United Kingdom for years ending on or after 5 April 2009.

The example auditor’s reports included in the Bulletin take account of the applicable requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and the requirements of ISA (UK and Ireland) 700 (Revised) which was issued during March 2009. 

The equivalent bulletin for reports under the 1985 Act is Bulletin 2006/06.

The following example reports are included in the appendices of Bulletin 2009/02:

Appendix 1 Unmodified auditor's reports where company does not prepare group financial statements

1.
Non-publicly traded company preparing financial statements under the FRSSE


2.
Non-publicly traded company preparing financial statements under UK GAAP

3.
Publicly traded company preparing financial statements under UK GAAP


4.
Publicly traded company preparing financial statements under IFRSs as adopted by the European Union


Appendix 2 Unmodified auditor's reports where group and parent company financial statements reported on in a single auditor's report

5.
Non-publicly traded group preparing financial statements under UK GAAP

6.
Publicly traded group - Parent company financial statements prepared under UK GAAP

7.
Publicly traded group - Parent company financial statements prepared under IFRSs as adopted by the European Union

Appendix 3 Unmodified auditor's report on group financial statements reported on separately from the parent company financial statements

8.
Publicly traded group - Auditor's report on group financial statements prepared under IFRSs as adopted by the European Union

Appendix 4 Unmodified auditor's reports on parent company financial statements reported on separately from the group financial statements

9.
Publicly traded group - Auditor's report on parent company financial statements prepared under UK GAAP

10.
Publicly traded group - Auditor's report on parent company financial statements prepared under IFRSs as adopted by the European Union

Appendix 5   Modified auditor's reports - Emphasis of matter paragraphs

11.
Emphasis of matter: Material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 

about the company's ability to continue as a going concern

12.
Emphasis of matter: Possible outcome of a lawsuit

Appendix 6   Modified auditor's reports - Qualified opinion on financial statements

13.
Qualified opinion: Disagreement - Inappropriate accounting treatment of debtors

14.
Qualified opinion: Disagreement - Non-disclosure of a going concern problem

15.
Qualified opinion: Scope Limitation - Auditor not appointed at the time of the stocktake

16.
Qualified opinion: Scope Limitation - Directors did not prepare cash flow forecasts sufficiently far into the future to be able to assess the going concern status of the company

Appendix 7   Modified auditor's reports - Adverse opinion on financial statements

17.
Adverse opinion: No provision made for losses expected to arise on long term contracts

18.
Adverse opinion: Significant level of concern about going concern status that is not disclosed in the financial statements

Appendix 8   Modified auditor's reports - Disclaimer of opinion on financial statements

19.
Disclaimer of opinion: Auditor unable to attend stocktake and confirm trade debtors

20.
Disclaimer of opinion: Multiple uncertainties

Appendix 9   Descriptions of the "Scope of an Audit" that may be cross referenced from auditor's reports

•
UK Publicly Traded Company (issued 26 March 2009)


•
UK Non-Publicly Traded Company (issued 26 March 2009)

Appendix 10   Modified auditor's report - Modified opinion on the directors' report

Appendix 11   Illustrative Directors' Responsibilities Statement for a non-publicly traded company preparing its financial statements under UK GAAP

For more information see http://www.frc.org.uk/apb/press/pub1964.html

19 MODIFIED AUDIT REPORTS

Following the publication of ISA 700 (Revised) back in March 2009, the structure of company audit reports has changed substantially. As a result, it is not now obvious how to prepare a modified audit report. Fortunately, APB Bulletin 2009/2 contains numerous examples of modified audit reports in the new style. 

These notes look at how such reports should be laid out. Firstly, however, we reproduce below an unmodified, “clean” audit report as a reminder of the new format and layout.

19.1 Unmodified report

Example 2 - UK non-publicly traded company under UK GAAP

This report is to be used for the audits of accounting periods commencing on or after 6 April 2008 and ending on or after 5 April 2009. Note that the Bannerman paragraph is excluded as this is recommended for inclusion by the ICAEW (and not by the ACCA for its members), not the APB.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF XYZ LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of XYZ Limited for the year ended ... which comprise [specify the titles of the primary financial statements, such as the Profit and Loss Account, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, the Reconciliation of Movements in Shareholders' Funds] and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement [set out [on 

page ...]], the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is [provided on the APB's web- site at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/UKNP] / [set out [on page x] of the Annual Report]. 

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

•
give a true and fair view of the company's affairs as at ... and of its profit [loss] for the year then ended;

•
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•
adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

[Signature] 








Address

John Smith (Senior statutory auditor) 




Date

for and on behalf of ABC LLP, Statutory Auditor

19.2 Emphasis of matter

One of the most common modifications to the audit report is the inclusion of an emphasis of matter paragraph, often in connection with doubts about going concern. This is addressed in APB Bulletin 2009/2 in Example 11.

The wording of the emphasis of matter paragraph itself is identical to that in the equivalent example in APB Bulletin 2006/6. However, its location within the report has changed due to the new layout of having three separate opinion sections. The emphasis of matter paragraph should be inserted directly after the “Opinion on the financial statements” section, as shown below:

Example 11 – Emphasis of matter: Material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the company's ability to continue as a going concern

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF XYZ LIMITED

...

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

•
give a true and fair view of the company's affairs as at 31 December 20X1 and of its loss for the year then ended;

•
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Emphasis of matter – Going concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosure made in note [x] to the financial statements concerning the company's ability to continue as a going concern. The company incurred a net loss of £X during the year ended 31 December 20X1 and, at that date, the company's current liabilities exceeded its total assets by £Y. These conditions, along with the other matters explained in note [x] to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the company's ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the company was unable to continue as a going concern.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

...

19.3 Qualified opinion – disagreement

This type of modification is used when the auditor disagrees with the directors about the accounting treatment of a material item, or the disclosure (or lack thereof) of a material issue in the accounts where, in either case, the issue is not of sufficient magnitude or is pervasive so as to require an adverse opinion. In such circumstances an “except for” disagreement opinion is appropriate.

These situations are covered by Examples 13 and 14 in APB Bulletin 2009/2, the former of which is reproduced below. Note that although the opinion section on reporting by exception matters has been left unmodified, in such the auditor may often need to report under one or more of these headings.

Example 13 – Qualified opinion: Disagreement – Inappropriate accounting treatment of debtors

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF XYZ LIMITED

...

Qualified opinion on financial statements arising from disagreement about accounting treatment

Included in the debtors shown on the balance sheet is an amount of £Y due from a company which has ceased trading. XYZ Limited has no security for this debt. In our opinion the company is unlikely to receive any payment and full provision of £Y should have been made. Accordingly, debtors should be reduced by £Y, the deferred tax liability should be reduced by £X and profit for the year and retained earnings should be reduced by £Z.

Except for the financial effect of not making the provision referred to in the preceding paragraph, in our opinion the financial statements:

•
give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at ... and of its profit [loss] for the year then ended;

•
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•
adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

...

19.4 Qualified opinion – limitation on scope

This type of modification is used when the scope of the auditor’s work has been limited in some way such that they have insufficient audit evidence to be able to issue a complete opinion, but where the issue is not of sufficient magnitude or is pervasive so as to require a full disclaimer of opinion. In such circumstances an “except for” limitation on scope opinion is appropriate.

These situations are covered by Examples 15 and 16 in APB Bulletin 2009/2. One of the most common examples of when this arises is where the stock take is not attended for some reason, often because the directors do not realise that the company will exceed the audit threshold for the first time. Example 15, which is reproduced below, covers this specific situation.

Here, the qualification is inserted into the “Opinion on the financial statements” section as before, but this time the auditor also needs to modify the “Matters on which we are required to report by exception” section.

Example 15 – Qualified opinion: Limitation on scope – Auditor not appointed at the time of the stocktake

...

Qualified opinion on financial statements arising from limitation in audit scope

With respect to stock having a carrying amount of £X the audit evidence available to us was limited because we did not observe the counting of the physical stock as at 31 December 20X1, since that date was prior to our appointment as auditor of the company. Owing to the nature of the company's records, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the stock quantities by using other audit procedures.

Except for the financial effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be necessary had we been able to satisfy ourselves as to physical stock quantities, in our opinion the financial statements:

•
give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 20X1 and of its profit [loss]for the year then ended;

•
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In respect solely of the limitation on our work relating to stock, described above:

•
we have not obtained all the information and explanations that we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit; and

•
we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting records had been kept.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•
returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made.

19.5 Adverse opinion and disclaimer of opinion

These are dealt with by Examples 17 to 20 in the Bulletin.

20 SIGNING AUDIT REPORTS

The changes resulting from the commencement of the Companies Act 2006 have raised a number of questions concerning the signing of audit reports. The requirements are included in legislation and Audit regulation.

The requirements in respect of legislation vary. Some legal requirements are precise as to who should sign the audit report and the information that needs to be included in the ‘signature box’. Other legislation does not provide any indication at all. Two examples of this would be the Companies Act 2006 for the former and the Pension regulations for the latter. Prior to the Companies Act 2006 the format for the signature box was standard across most, if not all, audit reports. The requirement in the Companies Act for the report to be signed by the senior statutory auditor in their own name is different from the requirements in other legislation.

The following points should be noted:

· The term senior statutory auditor only appears in the Companies Act 2006. Other legislation makes no reference to this but also would not prohibit the use of such a term.

· Other legislation is specific as regards the signing of audit reports and therefore must be complied with. This therefore requires a detailed knowledge of the legal requirements. For example the 2008 charity regulations require “is signed by him, or where the office of auditor is held by a body corporate or partnership, in its name by a person authorised to sign on its behalf”. This seems to indicate that the signature must be in the name of the firm not the individual who is authorised to sign on its behalf. Therefore an audit report on a charity prepared under the Charities Act would have to be signed in the name of the firm; an audit report on a charitable company prepared under the Companies Act 2006 would have to be signed by the senior statutory auditor.

· Some legislation, e.g. pension scheme regulations appears to be silent on how the report should be signed.

The issue has also been confused by two articles that have appeared in ICAEW Audit news. Issue 45 April 2009 stated “For audit reports on accounting periods starting after the 6 April 2008, the name of the responsible individual in charge of the audit must be given and the report has to be signed in his or her own name, not in the name of the firm.” There is no reference to the nature of the entity on which the report is being signed. Issue 44 October 2008 covered retrospective changes to audit regulation. These revisions to the changes were effective from 6 April 2008, being applied retrospectively. A commentary on the changes stated the following: 

“The original version of this regulation required the name of the responsible individual in charge of an audit (known for this purpose as the ‘senior statutory auditor’) to be disclosed on the audit report.”

“In addition, the report had to be signed by the individual in his or her own name. However, this is only a requirement of company law and, although the law extends this requirement to some other entities, the scope is more limited than the definition of audit used in the audit regulations. Consequently, the scope of this regulation has been reduced to be the same as the law as far as disclosure of the name is concerned. The implementation dates have now been finalised and these are also noted.”

Audit regulation 3.16 states:

“3.16 An audit report must:

a state the name of the firm as it appears in the Register;

b include the words ‘Statutory Auditor’ or ‘Statutory Auditors’ after the name of the firm; and

c if required by law, state the name of the responsible individual who was in charge of the audit, be signed by this person in his own name and include the words ‘Senior Statutory Auditor’ after the name of the responsible individual.

An audit report has to be signed by the firm with the added description ‘Statutory Auditor'. There is nothing to prevent a firm adding any other appropriate description, such as ‘chartered accountants’.

In certain cases the law requires that the responsible individual in charge of the audit (known as the senior statutory auditor) should sign the audit report. The individual’s name must also be given. This is only required if the audit report is a report on the annual accounts for a financial year of a ‘section 1210’ entity (see below), a special report on abbreviated accounts or when accounts are voluntarily revised by the directors. The individual’s name need not be given in the case of other reports required under the Act (for example a report under section 714 – redemption of shares out of capital) or reports on other entities included in the definition of an audit.

The APB has published guidance (Bulletin 2008/6) on how firms should decide which responsible individual is the senior statutory auditor in relation to a particular audit.

The Act allows, where there is a serious risk of violence or intimidation to the registered auditor or responsible individual, for their names not to be given in published copies of the audit report or the copy filed at Companies House etc. If these provisions, which only apply to the ‘section 1210’ entities listed below, are to be invoked, it may be advisable for the entity and the firm to seek legal advice.

Other legislation that is not included in the definition of audit, or the constitution of an entity, may call for a report from an auditor. A firm may choose to sign these reports as a statutory auditor. For example, a client may require a report about it to be given to a trade association. That trade association may require the report to be given and signed by a statutory auditor. There is nothing to prevent a firm doing this and the work would not come under these regulations. However, if the Institute receives a complaint about this work, enquiries may be made into the general standard of the firm's audit work. If necessary, enquiries may be made into other work which the firm is signing as a registered auditor or conducting in accordance with auditing standards. Regulation 6.07 gives the Registration Committee the power to enquire into other work undertaken by the firm.

The requirements of this regulation apply to audit reports for financial years beginning on or after 6 April 2008. For entities listed in Section 1210 of the 2006 Act the requirement applies as follows:

• companies, banks, insurers, certain partnerships (see definition of an audit) – audit reports for financial years beginning on or after 6 April 2008.

• building societies – audit reports for financial years beginning on or after 29 June 2008

• friendly and industrial and provident societies that are insurers – audit reports for financial years beginning on or after 29 June 2008.

• Limited liability partnerships– audit reports for financial years beginning on or after 1 October 2008.

• Lloyd’s syndicates – audit reports for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

There is nothing to stop firms adding the name of the responsible individual who was in charge of the audit and having the audit report signed by this person in his own name where this is not required by law. However, the statutory protection against any additional civil liability (if such a liability exists) is not extended in these situations. If a firm intends to do this, the engagement letter should make it clear that if any claim arises it would be against the audit firm and that the individual, by reason of being named and by signing the auditor’s report, is not subject to any civil liability to which he would not otherwise be subject.

Audit reports for financial periods starting before 6 April 2008, or the implementation date given above, should be signed in accordance with regulation 3.10 of the Audit Regulations (December 1995 edition, as amended).”

The following points should be noted:

· The term Registered Auditor should not be used after 6 April 2008. This should be changed to Statutory Auditor. This applies to all audit reports, irrespective of the nature of the entity.

· If the entity falls within section 1210, as noted above, then the report must be signed in the name of the individual in order to comply with legal requirements. This change is effective at the dates shown above and is not applied to periods before that date. The implication of the last paragraph is that periods before the implementation date should continue to be signed in accordance with Regulation 3.10. This required the report to be signed in the name of the firm with the added description “Registered Auditor(s). Therefore a LLP will continue to use the term Registered Auditor for periods commencing before 1 October 2008.

· If legalisation requires the report to be signed in the name of the firm this ould be complied with but using the term Statutory Auditor. This applies for all periods commencing on or after 6 April 2008.

· If the legislation includes no such requirements then the report can be signed in the name of the individual, as senior statutory auditor, but the engagement letter should refer to this to avoid civil liability. Given that many engagement letters will not refer to this it may be advisable to use the signature of the firm.

· Where it is necessary to show the name of the Senior Statutory Auditor, this should be in the same format as is used in the Audit Register – that is First name, Surname.

21 ACCESS TO INFORMATION BY SUCCESSOR AUDITORS: AUDIT AND ASSURANCE FACULTY 

21.1 Background information

The Technical Release (TR) repeats the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Companies Act and the ICAEW regulations and guidance as well as clarifying what is meant by the term statutory audit (CA 2006 Section 1210). 

Schedule 10 of the Companies Act 2006 requires that Recognised Supervisory Bodies must have adequate rules and practices designed to ensure that a person ceasing to hold office as a statutory auditor makes available to his successor in that office all relevant information which he holds in relation to that office. (CA 2006 Schedule 10 (9)(3)(c)).

The audit regulations and guidance have been amended to give effect to this requirement. These regulations were covered in a previous set of quarterly notes but the main issues arising are repeated below:

· The new regulation applies in respect of appointments for the audits of financial years starting on or after 6 April 2008.

· Information is for the purposes of the successor’s audit and must not be disclosed to a third party unless the successor is required to do so by a legal or professional obligation. Third party includes the client – although the successor may discuss the information with the client where to do so is a necessary part of the audit work.

· BERR has confirmed its view that the Act does not alter the existing liability of each auditor in relation to its respective audit.

· The request by the successor auditor can only be made after formal appointment. The provision of information should be on a timely basis.

· The request must be in writing.

· The successor should consider the need for a request and the extent of that request. The successor should not request unnecessary information. There are references to reviewing the predecessor’s audit work in ISA 510 (opening balances), ISA 710 (comparatives) and ISA 300 (planning) so information is likely to be necessary for these purposes.

· The successor should try to be as specific as possible in making a request and should avoid, wherever possible, a request for “all relevant information”. 

· Where the audit is an audit of financial statements, then ISAs will indicate the working papers to be prepared. It does not matter whether those working papers are filed on the current audit file, a permanent file or a systems file.

· The predecessor should be prepared to assist the successor by providing oral or written explanations on a timely basis.

· The period for which information is requested would normally be the period in respect of the last audit report signed by the predecessor and would include any subsequent interim review. If the successor considers that it needs information from a previous period then they should be prepared to provide a list of precisely what information is required and give reasons which demonstrate why such additional information is “relevant” in accordance with the regulations.

· It would be usual for the basis on which the information is to be provided to be documented in writing by an exchange of letters between the two auditors, copied to the audited entity. Guidance on suitable letters is provided in the technical release (see below).

· There is no obligation to allow copying of working papers but it would be usual to allow copying of extracts of the books and records of the audit client that are contained in the audit working papers.

· A request for information under the Regulation should not be made other than in connection with the successor’s audit. The successor should refuse to accept an additional engagement, such as to act as an expert witness or to review the quality of the predecessor’s audit work, where the engagement would involve the use of the information obtained by it under the Regulation. In any event, the successor should not comment on the quality of the predecessor’s audit work unless required to do so by a legal or professional obligation.

The TR then goes on to provide extracts from ISA 300 (Planning an audit of financial statements), ISA 510 (Initial engagements – opening balances) and ISA 710 (Comparatives). The reason for providing these extracts is that those ISAs contain specific references to reviewing the predecessor’s audit work and therefore are likely to be particularly helpful for the successor in deciding what is meant by the term relevant information.

21.2 Example letters

The successor should make the request in writing and the TR provides a proforma example of such a letter which is reproduced below. This is quite brief and contains a space for the successor to fill in what information is required. The TR says that this should be specified as precisely as possible and a broad request for “all relevant information....” should be avoided. 

The TR also provides a proforma specimen letter from the predecessor responding to the successor’s request for access (see below). This is a detailed letter containing extracts from the ICAEW guidance. It is designed to remind the successor of the restrictions on the use of the information and to disclaim any liability on the part of the predecessor. This letter should be copied to the client. Note that there is no requirement for the successor to countersign the letter.

21.3 Relevant information

In the case of an audit of financial statements under the Companies Act, ISAs will indicate the audit working papers to be prepared. It is likely that the successor will request access to some or all of those working papers.

Where files contain, for example, tax papers that relate to tax work rather than audit work then there is no obligation to provide access to those tax papers. 

Information which is subject to legal professional privilege would not be disclosable without permission from the client.

21.4 Practicalities of access

Where working papers are held electronically then the predecessor will need to consider how to provide access to the relevant audit documentation without putting at risk the confidentiality of the firm’s audit methodologies or confidential information of other clients.

It is reasonable for the successor to make notes of the review but there is no obligation to allow copying of audit working papers. The TR states that it would be reasonable to allow, as a minimum, the copying of extracts of the books and records of the client. It would also be reasonable and helpful to allow copying of papers such as breakdown of analyses of financial statement figures and documentation of the client’s systems and processes.

If the successor does ask to copy documents then it would be sensible to check them and to keep a record of which items were copied.

Access can only be requested after the appointment of the successor. The predecessor should grant access within a reasonable time following receipt of the request. The location where access is to be provided is determined by the predecessor.

The TR goes on to consider the subject of recovery of costs and suggests that it would be reasonable to seek to recover costs but without any element of profit. There is no obligation on the successor to make any payment and therefore the predecessor may wish to look to the client for recovery of costs. The TR suggests that it might be appropriate, as a matter of policy, to amend engagement letters so as to provide for the recovery of costs of providing access to an eventual successor. 

21.5 Confidentiality issues

The final section of the TR deals with confidentiality issues. Because the auditor is complying with a mandatory requirement, providing access to relevant information will not breach professional confidentiality or data protection laws.

However, because of the danger of tipping-off, any money laundering report and papers recording the predecessor’s related consideration of apparently suspicious activities should not be provided by the predecessor to any person (including the successor) unless the predecessor has clear advice that to do so would be lawful.

22 Changes to determining the size of companies 

22.1 Limits

The company and group must satisfy two out of three criteria to qualify as small or medium sized. It must also satisfy the criteria in the current period and the previous, or, in the previous period and have qualified as small or medium sized for that year. In respect of the later it does not have to satisfy the requirements in the current period. There are different rules for the first few years but these are not considered as part of these notes. This is often referred to as the “years rule” and has the effect of delaying changes in size by one year. Therefore companies which fail two out of three in one year, having satisfied them on previous periods are not affected by changes in the first year. This can be beneficial for a company which increase in size but has a counter effect for companies going on the opposite direction.

The application to groups is identical except there are gross and net. The net being equivalent to individual companies.


[image: image1.emf]Limits - small 



FYC before 6/4/08

–

Turnover  £5.6 (gross 6.72)

–

Balance sheet total £2.8 (gross 3.36)

–

Employees 50



FYC on or after 6/4/08

–

Turnover  £6.5 (gross £7.8m)

–

Balance sheet total £3.26 (gross 3.9m)

–

Employees 50


Consider the following situations, which represent typical questions that are raised on both courses and during the course of file reviews.

22.1.1 Situation 1 – year end 31 March 


[image: image2.emf]Example

2007 2008 2009

Turnover £4.5m £5.2m £6m

Balance 

sheet total £2.1m £2.5m £3m

Number of

employees 40 40 40


Will the company qualify as a small company for 2009?

Yes, the company qualified as small for 2008 and therefore 2009 is the first year that it fails the requirements. Therefore in accordance with the “years rule” the company would qualify as small. 

Would the company be entitled to audit exemption for 2009?

No. the company may qualify as small but it fails the turnover and balance sheet total requirement for audit exemption. 

What would happen on 2010 if it (a) satisfied the small company requirements, or (b) failed to satisfy the requirements?


[image: image3.emf]Example

2009 2010 2010

Turnover £6m £6.2m £7m

Balance 

sheet total £3m £3.1m £4m

Number of

employees 40 40 40


It should be remembered that the new limits will apply for 2010.

This also requires consideration of the transitional provisions contained in SI 393.

(3) In determining whether a company or group qualifies as small or medium-sized under section 382(2), 383(3), 465(2) or 466(3) of the 2006 Act (qualification in relation to subsequent financial year by reference to circumstances in preceding financial years) in relation to a financial year ending on or after 6th April 2008, the company or group shall be treated as having qualified as small or medium-sized (as the case may be) in any previous financial year in which it would have so qualified if amendments to the same effect as those made by these Regulations had been in force.

The application of these transitional provisions requires the company to use the new limits in 2010 in order to determine whether the previous year requirements have been met. It would have satisfied the requirements for that year and therefore for 2010 it will still be small. If the limits had not increased then the company would have changed size as this would have been the second successive year of failing to satisfy the small company requirements.

If it failed the new limits in 2010 then the transitional provisions of the regulations would also apply. Applying the new limits to 2009 indicates the company would have qualified as small. Therefore the requirements have been satisfied in the previous year and the company was small in that year. Therefore the company is still small for 2010. Effectively the increase in the limits has delayed the size change for another year. If the company fails the requirements next year, 2011, then the size will change

Parents of ineligible groups cannot be heading small or medium sized. Similarly companies which are members of ineligible groups cannot be small or medium sized. This can have a significant impact on financial reporting requirements. There have been a number of changes under the Companies Act 2005. These come into force for accounting periods commencing on or after 6/4/08.

23 ISSUES ARISING FROM COMPANIES HOUSE 

23.1 Companies House Insider

The Institute of Chartered Accounts in England & Wales (ICAEW) is running a roadshow on the Companies Act 2006 implementation in conjunction with Companies House.  The Companies House representative has said some very interesting things during his presentation and these are summarised below.

23.2 Accounts late filing penalties

Last year Companies House took approximately £73m in accounts late filing penalties but virtually all of these monies have to be passed on to government and Companies House keeps only enough to cover the costs of collection.  Companies House has a target to collect accounts late filing penalties of zero!  Their priority is to receive the accounts on time.

23.3 Accounts late filing – a tougher stance

Companies House have come under pressure from users of the accounts to ensure that accounts are received on time.  This means that they are chasing unfiled accounts much harder than before.  They have found that threatening directors with prosecution for unfiled accounts is often ineffective.  Threatening directors to strike off companies has been much more successful so generally a letter will be sent to this effect about 6 weeks after the filing deadline if the accounts have not been filed.  If it is a busy year end like March or December it might take longer for Companies House to act. 

23.4 14 days grace

Previously Companies House had been giving companies 14 days grace on the filing deadline if the accounts were filed before the deadline but were rejected because they contained errors.

Apparently this concession was “subject to abuse” and that is why the grace period will no longer be given.

23.5 e-filing

Currently small company abbreviated accounts that are not subject to audit can be filed electronically, as can the majority of company forms.  There are currently no plans for mandatory e-filing but there are a number of countries in the world where the relevant registrar demands e-filing and paper forms don’t exist.  So read between the lines.

23.6 Company names

From 1 October 2008, the issue of “opportunistic incorporation” is being tackled by Companies House for the first time.  Where a company is formed with a name that another individual or organisation has some right over, the Arbitrator can act.  The Arbitrator has the rather charismatic name of Raul Columbo and he has already settled a number of cases such as “Coke Cola Ltd” and “Newton & Ridley Ltd”.  No prizes for guessing the objectors. 

It costs £400 to put the case to the arbitrator but there is somewhat of a backlog and some companies have decided to settle the matter out of court rather than wait, by paying the opportunistic incorporator some money for the name.

23.7 Natural directors

From 1 October 2008 every company (subject to transitional rules) must have at least one natural director, yet there are over 100,000 companies on the register with no natural directors.

This is too many for Companies House to tackle and they plan to wait until the number reduces before addressing the companies individually.

23.8 Sole directors

Under Companies Act 2006 the company does not need a company secretary and a company now only requires by law, to have one director.  Many lawyers might think this to be a bad idea but Companies House has received numerous incorporations for sole director companies.  It is suspected that these are sole traders incorporating now that the rules have changed.

23.9 Company secretaries

The requirement to have a company secretary being dropped from 6 April 2008 has started to be noticed when looking at the statistics on new incorporations.  Currently 57% of new incorporations do not have a company secretary. 

23.10 Directors’ service addresses

From 1 October 2009 directors will not have to make their ordinary residential address public.  All directors will have the option of supplying a service address as well as their residential address.  Only certain government agencies will have access to the residential address.  The public record will only contain the service address.  Different service addresses can be maintained for different companies by a common director.

Companies House will offer a service to remove details on documents previously submitted that contain the residential address.

23.11 Underage directors

From 1 October 2008 directors have to be at least 16 years old.  There were hundreds of company directors that were under sixteen.  Apparently some received directorships as birthday presents!  Imagine getting a form 288 when all you really wanted was a bike!

On a related topic there are 8,000 disqualified company directors on the Companies House database.

23.12 New forms

New Companies House forms are available in draft on the website.  They are in draft because there are still some typos and BERR has only recently changed its name to BIS!  (Interestingly BERR was DBERR for a few days.  This was changed when someone noticed the possible confusion with a popular middle of the road singer)

The new forms should not be used until 1 October 2009 otherwise they will be rejected.  The old Companies House forms will be valid until then but will be rejected if used afterwards.

Anyway Companies House prefer e-filing to people using the forms.

23.13 Company accounts – power to remove

For the first time Companies House now have the power to remove information from the accounts before putting them on to the public record.  Previously if a tax computation was included with the accounts, the accounts would either have gone on record with the computation attached or be rejected.  Now it can be removed.

23.14 Trading disclosures

Who cares about trading disclosure on company letterheads etc?  Companies House do look to see whether the correct trading disclosures are made on letterheads, e-mails and websites, such as the company number, name, place of incorporation and registered office address.  When non-compliant communications are received they are sometimes referred to the technical offences team.  This can happen if a letter of complaint is not compliant!

24 COMMON WEAKNESSES REPORTED BY QAD

Audit News Issue 45 contains a report from the QAD reporting common weaknesses observed during their visits to audit firms. The notes which follow contain extracts from the report with additional comments.

24.1 Auditing standards

24.1.1 ISA 210 - Terms of audit engagements

Common issues with letters of engagement were:

· reference to incorrect legislation (including lack of tailoring for specialist/regulated clients);

· reference to SASs instead of ISAs; and

· reference to NCIS instead of SOCA and reference not being made to the latest Money Laundering Regulations 2007.

Comment: It is very difficult for any individual firm to identify promptly all of the changes which should be reflected in an engagement letter. It is recommended that firms should subscribe to an appropriate updating service. 

24.1.2 ISA 230 - Audit documentation

ISA 230 requires that the audit files should be sufficiently documented to allow an experienced auditor, with no previous connection with the audit, to understand the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures performed; the results of those procedures and the audit evidence obtained; and significant matters arising and the conclusions reached. A practical test for this is to ask yourself whether an experienced auditor could, from the information supplied, understand the above points.

Comment: Try reviewing files of colleagues. Not necessarily as part of the annual cold file review process but just to gain a picture of how well your firm complies with this standard.

24.1.3 ISA 240 - Auditor's responsibility to consider fraud in an audit

This issue is consistent with the ISA 260 findings as not all firms are communicating appropriately with their clients at the planning stage and fraud risks are not specifically discussed. In addition, team discussions are often not conducted, or not recorded. Finally, some firms do not seem to appreciate that income recognition is presumed to be high risk, and therefore the audit approach needs to reflect this, unless the audit team can justify, in writing, a different approach.

Comment: The above criticism is straightforward. For many firms, a change of attitude is required.

24.1.4 ISA 250A - Consideration of laws and regulations

Problems arise in the following areas:

· identification of the key legal and regulatory requirements affecting the client at the planning stage of the audit;

· follow-up at the fieldwork stage of the client's compliance with the laws and regulations identified at planning; and

· lack of evidence of discussion with the client, review of regulatory reports and correspondence, and a lack of review of correspondence or direct confirmation with legal advisers.

Comment: Recall that the additional procedures are only required where the laws and regulations are “central” to the business. 

24.1.5 ISA 260 - Communicating audit matters to those charged with governance

Not all firms have the required discussions at either the planning or completion stage or, if they do, there is no record. This is a vital requirement in all audits.

Comment: Probably the easiest way to achieve and demonstrate compliance with this ISA (re. planning) is through the use of a tailored planning letter. 

24.1.6 ISA 315 - Obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment and assessing the risks of material misstatement

The issues arising include:

· insufficient recording of the understanding of the entity - mainly noted on specialist audits;

· no confirmation of the design and implementation of the controls used by the client (eg, via observation, walk-through testing or some other test);

· risk assessments not always performed on an assertion basis; and

· often, no significant risks identified.

Comment: These criticisms are familiar. This remains the weakest area of compliance with the new standards. 

24.1.7 ISAs 500-505 - Audit evidence

Lack of sufficient audit work still ranks as a common finding, particularly in the following areas:

· bank and cash - lack of bank confirmations

· expenditure - occurrence

· creditors completeness

· turnover completeness

· other debtors - existence and/or value

· stock valuation.

The underlying cause is often a failure to identify the key audit areas and to tailor the audit approach at the planning stage.

Also, firms are not using their audit procedures or manuals effectively (in some cases not at all!) or not using specialist audit procedures or tailoring standard procedures sufficiently for specialist or regulated clients.

Comment: These are straightforward issues of basic auditing. The QAD criticism is clear and no further comment is required.

24.1.8 ISA 520 - Analytical procedures

The main issue is with the preliminary and final analytical review; not documenting sufficient narrative to explain key variances and their impact on the audit.

Comment: Recall the purpose of preliminary analytical review – it is a risk assessment procedure. By contrast, final analytical review is corroborative in nature.

24.1.9 ISA 560 - Subsequent events

As with going concern, a lack of recorded evidence to support the conclusions reached.

Comment: And don’t forget the gap.

24.1.10 ISA 570 - Going concern

Given the current economic climate, it is perhaps not surprising that going concern is a common issue. Not all firms are considering or recording sufficient evidence to support their going concern conclusions. The current recession makes this all the more important and it is vital that audit firms consider and record the full scope of evidence available in making their going concern conclusions, eg, review of forecasts, order books, post-year-end management accounts, discussions with those charged with governance, review of banking and lending facilities, review of minutes and legal correspondence, review of gearing, interest cover, liquidity and so on. ISA 570 provides examples to assist in compliance. The other common issue that firms sometimes forget is that going concern considerations should extend to one year after approval of the financial statements and audit files should be able to demonstrate that this full period has been considered.

Valuable additional guidance is also available in APB Bulletins 2008/10, Going concern issues during the current economic conditions, and 2008/01, Audit issues when financial market conditions are difficult and credit facilities may be restricted. There is also an article on going concern in edition 45 of Audit News.

Comment: We have given considerable attention to this subject in recent update notes.

24.1.11 ISA 580 - Management representations

Some audit matters can only be dealt with in a letter of representation but many firms do not:

· obtain written representations where these are needed;

· obtain a representation letter before the audit report is signed;

· cover the areas of going concern, laws and regulations, fraud, unadjusted errors; or

· tailor the letter for specialist clients.

Comment: Whilst standard letters can be dangerous, it is a good idea to start with a standard document which covers all of the compulsory requirements including those mentioned in the third bullet point above.

24.1.12 ISA 700 - The auditor's report

The most common issues are:

· failure to adopt the wording of the APB Bulletin (at the time of writing: 2006/6 for standard audit reports in the UK);

· errors in the wording and nature of audit report qualification/modifications; and

· reference to UK auditing standards instead of ISAs.

It is vital that what is, after all, the end product of the audit, is accurate. Firms should:

· ensure that their audit report templates reflect the current APB Bulletin;

· apply appropriate quality control procedures prior to signing the audit report; and

· for audit reports with qualifications or modifications:

· refer to ISA 700 prior to finalising the audit report; in particular, to the decision tree to help determine the correct qualification or modification and also to the appropriate illustrative examples for appropriate wording; and

· the firm should consider either a second review by a responsible individual or additional consultation procedures - both documented of course!

Comment: Again, the QAD criticism is clear and thorough. Recall the cut-off date for the new form of report under ISA 700 – that is periods ending on or after 5 April 2009.

24.2 Financial statements

Reviewers identified the following matters, which seem to feature regularly.

24.2.1 Directors' reports

· no risks and uncertainties;

· no fair review of business activities;

· no statement regarding the disclosure to auditors; and 

· no disclosure in relation to future developments.

Comment: Bullet points 1, 2 and 4 do not apply to small companies. Bullet point 3 will apply to a small company if its accounts are audited.

24.2.2 Accounting policies

· turnover and income recognition;

· fixed asset policies: depreciation or non-depreciation; investment properties (including true and fair view override); intangible fixed assets, including goodwill; revaluation of properties;

· pension scheme;

· going concern where there were apparent issues.

Comment: There is a tendency to accept the policies produced by the firm’s standard software without a critical read.

24.2.3 Profit and loss account

· auditor's remuneration, including analysis of non-audit services;

· taxation: mainly omitting reconciliation of current year tax charge;

· directors' remuneration: directors' pension contributions; the numbers accruing pension benefits; directors' emoluments.

24.2.4 Balance sheet

· fixed assets: hire purchase/finance lease disclosures; the details regarding revaluations;

· bank loans: terms, interest, maturity analysis;

· operating leases: no commitment note.

· Related parties: no controlling party note; directors' loans omitted; and other missing RPT disclosures.

Many of these issues can be avoided by using a disclosure checklist.

Comment: At the time of preparing this report, the QAD had not yet identified directors’ dividends as an RPT requiring disclosure. 

24.3 Audit compliance review (ACR)

This requirement should be second nature but some firms are misunderstanding the requirements and are not realising that the ACR process has two parts: an annual whole-firm (or firm-wide) review and an annual cold file review of a sample of audit engagements. So not all firms are conducting a full ACR.

Some firms are not conducting sufficiently challenging cold file reviews. In other words, the reviews had identified few or no findings compared with the findings of the QAD.

Some firms are not following up sufficiently the matters found in order to rectify the ACR findings for the future.

Sole practitioners or other smaller firms may find it difficult to conduct effective internal ACRs, given the inevitable limitations of self-review. So, with the extent of regulatory changes and the changes to come with the clarified ISAs, such firms may wish to consider implementing the discipline of periodic external cold file reviews, (that does not necessarily mean annual). As long as you take action to review the findings, this should allow you to keep up to speed with the constant changes and should mean that you are less likely to achieve a poor monitoring outcome.

The worst mistake firms can make is, having been required to submit external hot or cold file reviews to the ARC as a result of a monitoring visit, to revert to just internal reviews or no annual reviews once the visit has been concluded to the ARC's satisfaction. Many firms have fallen into the trap of improving in the short-term after a monitoring visit, only to go back to old habits again. Repeated non-compliance and repeated poor visits are taken very seriously by the ARC and this situation is best avoided.

24.4 CPD

Since the change to the CPD arrangements in 2005, there is no longer a requirement to achieve a minimum amount of CPD or to attend courses. What you have to do is identify the training needs of audit staff and then identify the CPD activities that will best meet those needs.

If the findings of the visit show that CPD has not been effective or sufficiently far-reaching, this will usually result in the firm requiring follow-up action, including submission of CPD records to the ARC. There is a significant link between ineffective CPD and poor audit files and this emphasises the importance of CPD. This is especially the case given the imminent arrival of the clarified ISAs.

Comment: Whilst the firm has its responsibility for achieving satisfactory CPD, remember that the individual must also submit an annual return confirming their compliance with the rules.

24.5 Ethics

Three matters frequently arise.

· Long Association (Ethical Standard (ES) 3) - mainly responsible individuals acting for non-listed audit clients for more than 10 years without either implementing appropriate safeguards or informing those charged with governance in writing, obtaining their approval and documenting this.

· Provision of accounting services - under ES5, accounting services that involve initiating or authorising transactions or creating journals for a client without management input are prohibited unless the small company PASE exemption can be applied (which must be disclosed in the audit report). Other accounting services can be conducted provided they are not of a management nature and appropriate safeguards are applied.

· Fee dependency (ES4) - a lack of safeguards for non-listed audits with total fees regularly between 10-15%. Remember that if fees for non-listed audit clients regularly exceed 15%, there is a prohibition from accepting the audit appointment.

· The above is the position for non-listed audit clients. Listed audit clients have more stringent requirements, as set out in the relevant standards.
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Example

				2007		2008		2009

Turnover		£4.5m	£5.2m	£6m

Balance 

sheet total	£2.1m	£2.5m	£3m

Number of

employees	  40		  40		  40








_1319267307.ppt


Example

				 2009	2010		2010	

Turnover		£6m		£6.2m	£7m

Balance 

sheet total	£3m		£3.1m	£4m

Number of

employees	  40		  40		  40
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Limits - small 

		FYC before 6/4/08



Turnover  £5.6 (gross 6.72)

Balance sheet total £2.8 (gross 3.36)

Employees 50

		FYC on or after 6/4/08



Turnover  £6.5 (gross £7.8m)

Balance sheet total £3.26 (gross 3.9m)

Employees 50








